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Our Vision
The Bank which leads the way to greater financial and 
social prosperity

Our Mission  
 Clients: To be recognised as the preferred banking partner 
 in our target client segments.

 Employees: To be recognised as an employer of choice 
 through the fostering of a motivational environment which 
 rewards superior performance.

 Society: To be recognised for our ethical banking practices and 
 for our contribution to the social well-being of the communities 
 in which we are present.

 Shareholders: To be one of the most profitable banks in the U.A.E. 

Our Values
 Clients First
 Consistent High Quality
 Cooperation and Teamwork
 Capability Enhancement Through Learning and Empowerment
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Chairman’s Statement         

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors and the staff of the Bank, I am pleased to welcome all of you to review 
the overall activities of the Bank and its financial statements for the year 2010. I would also like to highlight 
the key economic developments and changes witnessed by the local, regional and global economic arena and 
their impact on the banking and financial sectors.

The year 2010 continued to witness numerous economic 
challenges at the global level, foremost among them being 
the escalating crisis of government debts in the Eurozone. 
However, swift actions and measures undertaken by 
European Union (EU) countries to offer financial support 
to the worst-affected countries helped contain the 
deterioration of their financial and economic assets. This, 
in effect, helped prevent a further worsening of the global 
crisis, which could have been caused by the rapid and 
significant decline that the Euro witnessed against the US 
Dollar and other major global currencies in 2010. 

Meanwhile, global financial markets gained strongly during 
the year, with oil prices averaging $80 per barrel, and gold 
ending the year 12 per cent stronger than 2009 to hit a new 
historical high of over $1,400 per ounce. 

Amid signs of continuation of economic growth in the 
short- and medium-term, international trade made a sharp 
recovery in 2010, surging by 13.5 per cent after witnessing 
a decline of 12.2 per cent in 2009. However, global business 
investment remains below its pre-recession level despite 
the improvement recorded in the second half of the year.

The Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) States made 
further progress towards economic collaboration as the 
GCC Summit held in Abu Dhabi, represented a landmark 
event for the achievement of the GCC’s vision. Leaders at 
the summit passed a resolution allowing Gulf companies 
to open branches in member countries and to receive equal 
treatment like national firms; gave directives to speed up 
work on the development of mechanisms of the Customs 
Union, removal of customs and non-customs barriers 
among the member states; and to move ahead with the 
GCC electricity grid connection, whose first phase was 
launched in 2009.
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We have remained keen on strengthening and 
developing our processes to provide the best products 
and services to our growing base of customers. 
These efforts culminated in raising the Bank’s profile 
and made it financially stronger to face any future 
challenges and to achieve the desired levels of growth

In 2010, the UAE economy efficiently and successfully 
dealt with the challenges emanating from the fallout of the 
global financial crisis. The country took a number of steps 
including increasing public spending on infrastructure 
projects aimed at strengthening the national economy and 
boosting investment confidence. These efforts resulted in 
a GDP growth of 2.5 per cent although earlier estimates 
indicated negative growth in 2010. 

Despite the continued decline in the contribution of 
construction and real estate to GDP, the country’s trade, 
tourism, services and oil sectors achieved remarkable 
growth in 2010 and are expected to continue to play the 
role of being the primary engines of economic development 
in the next few years. 

2010 saw the UAE’s banking sector focusing on supporting 
the quality of credit portfolios and taking adequate 
provisions to respond to the repercussions of the global 
financial crisis. The sector also took steps for the further 
development of services and products to achieve the desired 
growth and to continue to play an active role in serving the 
economic development of the country. 

The UAE’s total banking sector assets grew by 5.7 per 
cent, during 2010, compared with 4.3 per cent in 2009. 
Bank deposits grew by AED 67 billion or 7 per cent, in 
2010. Loans and Advances grew modestly in line with 
the conservative and prudent lending policies followed 
by banks to strengthen their financial positions and to 
maintain solvency rates at high levels.

As for Commercial Bank of Dubai, we have remained 
keen on strengthening and developing our processes to 
provide the best products and services to our growing base 
of customers. These efforts culminated in raising the Bank’s 
profile and made it financially stronger to face any future 
challenges and to achieve the desired levels of growth. 

The Board of Directors expresses its sincere gratitude and 
appreciation to the Bank’s esteemed shareholders, clients 
and other stakeholders for their continued confidence and 
support. A word of thanks is also extended to the Bank’s 
Management and Staff for their fruitful efforts and sincere 
dedication towards the growth of the Bank and achieving 
such good results.

  Ahmed Humaid Al Tayer
  Chairman
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The Report of the Board of Directors

Dear Shareholders,

The Board of Directors takes pleasure in presenting the Annual Report of the Bank for the year 2010. The Financial 
Reports have been prepared in accordance with the requirement of International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and include the disclosures required by Basel II Pillar III.

CBD is among the Top UAE banks ranked by market capitalisation, profitability and efficiency. The Bank has branches 
throughout the United Arab Emirates. We are committed to achieving excellence in all aspects of our business to 
support our organisational vision of being the Bank that leads the way to greater financial and social prosperity.

Our mission is to be the preferred banking partner for our 
clients, to be the employer of choice for our employees, to be 
recognised for our ethical practices and our contribution to the 
social well-being of the communities we serve, as well as to 
deliver outstanding financial performance to our shareholders.

The Board of Directors has provided corporate value statements 
to ensure that the Bank continues to uphold its principles. 
These values are:

 1. Clients First
 2. Consistent high quality
 3. Cooperation and teamwork
 4. Capability enhancement through training and 

empowerment

Together, these values form the foundation of our corporate 
culture.

Since its inception in 1969, CBD has achieved steady and 
significant growth to emerge as one of the leading banks in 
the country. In light of the recent turbulence in the global 
economy, the Bank has implemented plans and processes 
to ensure that it continues to prosper in these times, and to 
improve upon its core strengths to deliver quality service to our 
target segments.

The Bank’s strategy is to turn the current challenges 
to the banking sector into opportunities for CBD by 
leveraging its competitive advantage and positioning 
itself as the Bank of Choice for its target segments. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS     

Operating Results: Total income amounted to AED 1,890 
Million in 2010.  A 6.9% increase mainly as a result of lower 
funding cost. The Bank’s Net Interest Income increased by 
5.2% to AED 1,385 Million, while other Operating Income 
increased by 12% to AED 505 Million.

Operating Profits: Operating profits before specific and 
collective provisions grew 9.3% to reach AED 1,347 Million 
in 2010.

Operating Expenses: Operating efficiency improved as 
operating income increased by 6.9% while operating expenses 
increased by 1.4% resulting in a healthy Cost to Income Ratio 
of 28.7%.

Provisions for Impairment in Credit Facilities: The Bank 
continued to build up its provisions in line with its prudent 
credit policies and the regulatory requirements. The provisions 
charge was increased to AED 555 Million in 2010. Such 
provisions may be added back to income if the risk of default 
is averted. The AED 555 Million impairment charges for 2010 
include AED 96 Million for General Provisions which add 
up to 1.4% of Credit Risk Weighted Assets (CRWA) by end 
of 2010.

The Non-Performing Loans are covered up to 89% by 
provisions against potential losses and collateralized by other 
tangible securities.

Net Profit for the year 2010 amounted to AED 821 Million an 
increase of 2.2% as compared to the net profit for 2009.

Balance Sheet: The Bank’s balance sheet grew to AED 38.5 
Billion as of 31st December 2010, compared with AED 36.8 
Billion a year earlier, reflecting a growth of 4.7%. The Bank 
maintains a balanced mix of assets and liabilities, with the 
objective of maintaining both healthy liquidity and profitability 
levels concurrently.

Net loans and advances witnessed a decline from AED 28.4 
Billion in 2009 to AED 27.2 Billion as at the end of 2010.
Customers’ Deposits grew by 4.6% from AED 27.9 Billion at 
the end of 2009 to AED 29.2 Billion as of December 31st 
2010. Consequently, the Bank’s liquidity position further 
strengthened, resulting in strong advances to stable resources 
ratio of 83.9%, well below the maximum of a 100% as 
stipulated by the UAE Central Bank. Customers’ Deposits 
constitute 89.5% of the Bank’s total liabilities and comprises 
of current & demand accounts, saving accounts, time deposits 
and cash margins for both Consumer and Corporate Islamic 
and Conventional clients.
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During 2010, the Bank opened its new 
Umm Suqeim Branch with a dedicated 
Attijari Al Islami Centre and Al Dana Wealth 
Management Centre
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Board of Directors

The Board of Directors has the overall responsibility for the 
operations and the financial soundness of the Bank, and ensures 
that the interests of the shareholders and depositors are met.

The formation of the Board of Directors is governed by the 
Federal Law No. 8 of 1984 (as amended). The Board comprises 
of 8 members elected for a tenure of three years. The current 
Board of Directors was elected by the General Assembly on 
27th February 2008.

Capital: The Bank is well capitalized with a high Capital 
Adequacy Ratio of 20.28% as per Basel II compared to 
19.01% as of 31st December 2009. The Tier I Adequacy Ratio 
is 15.58% as of 31st December 2010. The Adequacy Ratio is 
well above the minimum requirement of 12% determined by 
the UAE Central Bank as well as the proposed BASEL III 
guidelines.

The Bank’s financial results for the year 2010 demonstrate that 
the Bank continues to enjoy a high level of performance and 
solvency.

	 •	 Return	on	Average	Assets	(ROAA)	2.18%
	 •	 Return	on	Average	Equity	(ROAE)	15.54%	(after	the		

 dividend distribution)
	 •	 Net	Interest	Margin	4.17%
	 •	 Coverage	Ratio	89%	(provision	/	non-performing	loans)
	 •	 Efficiency	Ratio	28.7%	(operating	cost	/	operating		 	

 income)
	 •	 Capital	Adequacy	Ratio	(as	per	BASEL	II	Pillar	I	&	II)		

 20.28%
	 •	 Tier	I	Capital	Adequacy	Ratio	15.58%

The Board of Directors recommended the distribution of 
AED 388 Million as Cash Dividends to shareholders i.e. 20% 
of the capital as it was on 31st December 2010.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors of the Bank adopts a corporate 
governance policy consistent with international best practices to 
achieve the principles of fair treatment with all stakeholders.

Board Committees

The Report of the Board of Directors Continued

Executive Committee 
(EXCO)
4 Non-Executive Members
2 Executive Members

EXCO acts as the 
Group’s senior executive 
management, ensuring 
that the Group meets its 
strategic and operational 
objectives.

Audit & Risk Committee 
(ARC)
6 Members 
(5 Non-Executive Members 
& 1 independent 
Non-Executive Member)

ARC assists the Board 
of Directors in ensuring 
and maintaining oversight 
of the Group’s financial 
reporting system, internal 
control and risk manage-
ment framework, audit 
functions and legal and 
regulatory requirements.
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CBD’s Board of Directors held a total of 7 meetings with 
a combined total of 21 working hours, whereas the Board’s 
Audit Committee held a total of 6 meetings, with a combined 
total of 18 working hours during 2010.

For more details about Corporate Governance, Board 
Committees and Management Committees and control 
environment please see pages 43 to 49 in the enclosed 
financials.

Commercial Bank of Dubai is committed to 
developing and practicing the highest international 
standards of Corporate Governance

STRATEGY 

While CBD’s core strategy remains constant – to be the Bank 
of choice in its target segments – it was further refined in 2010 
to be in tune with the changes in the economic and banking 
industry landscape. The senior management undertook a 
strategy review exercise in 2010 and, as a result, identified the 
following four specific action tracks:

Focus on the family owned businesses, that are operating •	
in robust economic sectors, and affluent individuals
The Bank decided to further expand its presence in •	
Abu Dhabi and the free trade zones identified as key 
markets for the next phase of growth. 

Remuneration 
Committee (REMCO)
3 Non-Executive 
Members

REMCO reviews and 
approves overall HR 
policies and strategy and 
the Bank’s compensation 
programs in order to 
attract, retain and moti-
vate its management and 
staff.

Based on well-established research findings that sub-•	
segmentation is a growth catalyst, the Bank further 
refined its client segmentation in consumer banking 
by identifying sub-segments within ‘Al Dana,’ CBD’s 
high net worth segment. The Bank is following a highly 
individual approach focused at further strengthening 
relationships with clients in the identified sub-
segments.
In recognition of the Bank’s loyal customers, CBD •	
enhanced its client service team concept to offer clients 
– both corporate and individuals – specialized solutions 
for their business and personal finance needs, without 
them having to contact multiple departments. 
The Bank undertook the following specific initiatives to •	
raise the bar in operational efficiency by benchmarking 
its quality and service against international and regional 
standards:

Introduced an online service quality dashboard •	
entitled Quality Impact Meters (QIMs), which 
tracks end-to-end workflow and turnaround times 
of key client services, including wait times. Breaches, 
if any, to the established service level agreements are 
now identified online and swift corrective measures 
implemented.
Based on extensive and intensive feedback – •	
customer satisfaction surveys, mystery shopping 
programs and direct client feedback – some key 
client service processes have been reengineered, 
resulting in significant reduction in turnaround 
times, elimination of non-value-adding handoffs 
and improved employee productivity. 
Over 35 members of the staff were trained in the 6 •	
Sigma discipline and several cross-functional teams 
were formed to orchestrate process improvement 
initiatives across the organisation. 
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The Report of the Board of Directors Continued

Al Dana Wealth Management continues to play 
a leading role as the prime provider of wealth 
management services and investment vehicles 
to our high net-worth clients

All the above initiatives led to third-party accolades, which 
reflect the successful execution of the Bank’s strategy and the 
high level of client service. CBD was awarded the ‘Best Bank 
2010 in UAE’ while the CEO was accorded the prestigious 
‘CEO of the Year’ award for his astute leadership and for 
successfully navigating the Bank through a period of global 
financial crisis, which also negatively impacted the UAE 
banking industry.

SUPPORT FOR THE COMMUNITY

At CBD, we understand that our success as a financial 
institution is driven by the success of our society. Our objective 
as an organization goes beyond financial performance; we also 
measure our success by our efforts to make a difference in the 
community.

The Bank has continued to be a major sponsor in a number of 
cultural, educational and sporting events as well as supporting 
various charities. Some of the major events in which CBD 
was a major sponsor in 2010 include EnviroCities 2010 
conference, Dubai Festival for Youth Theatre, ‘Know Diabetes 
2010’ campaign and ‘Clean Up UAE’ campaign.  During the 
year, the Bank also extended its support and donations to many 
organizations in the UAE.

We actively encourage our employees to volunteer for 
community work, creating tangible goodwill for the Bank 
among the community. The Annual Blood Donation Drive 
saw the staff at head office and branches participate in a 
worthy cause by donating blood to the Department of Blood 
Transfusion and Research Services at the UAE Ministry of 
Health.

Additionally, the Bank actively supports the UAE’s 
Emiratisation initiatives by way of participation and 
sponsorship of various career-oriented events such as Careers 
UAE, National Career Exhibition and Najah Education, 
Training and Careers Exhibition.

CORPORATE BANKING

Corporate Banking represents our core activity as we endeavour 
to provide an extensive range of credit and non-credit services 
to large and medium-sized local corporate and commercial 
clients which are, for the most part, owned by wealthy families 
that have had long and valued relationships with the Bank.

The Bank focuses on its core competencies in lending, 
specifically trade finance, short- and medium-term funding 
for working capital, and financing of fixed assets, while also 
providing traditional transactional as well as e-banking services 
together with a range of foreign exchange and interest rate 
hedging products.

In line with our enhanced geographic focus, a team of 
experienced relationship managers (RMs) located in the 
capital takes care of our Abu Dhabi-based large corporate 
clientele while our head office-based team of RMs continues 
to be responsible for large corporates in Dubai and the 
Northern Emirates. Similarly, commercial clients are managed 
by RMs strategically located in 14 commercial banking 
centres throughout the country. Additionally, a small team of 
professionals in the Head Office is responsible for the Bank’s 
institutional business. Product specialists from Treasury, Trade 
Finance and Transaction Banking work closely with RMs to 
cross-sell tailor-made products in line with client needs. 
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In 2010, the Bank took deliberate and decisive action to bring 
our corporate banking activities in line with the evolving 
business landscape. During these times of global economic 
instability, the Bank took measured steps to control asset 
growth and strengthen our day-to-day management of credit 
exposures.  Action was taken promptly to restructure facilities 
where required and realign with future cash-flow projections 
and the loan book was appropriately re-priced to reflect market 
realities. Similarly, we also intensified our efforts to solicit 
low-cost deposits from corporate and commercial clients and 
generate client-related cash-flows through operating accounts. 
As such, the Bank was able to demonstrate its ability to increase 
its ‘share of wallet’ in non-credit services.

The Bank deepened its business relationship with a number 
of federal and local government entities, especially with our 
e-government product ‘Cash Online’ receiving very positive 
feedback from our esteemed clients. It is our pleasure to 
inform you that the Bank is now among the Top providers of 
payroll solutions for our customers under the UAE Ministry of 
Labour’s Wage Protection System (WPS). 

The Bank anticipates that 2011 will remain a challenging year 
as global and local markets continue to readjust after periods of 
extreme difficulty. As such, the corporate banking division will 
maintain a cautious approach to new lending except in certain 
specific sectors, relating to trade, services and manufacturing, 
where there may be an opportunity to prudently grow market 
share.  Attention will be given to further improving service 
levels and delivery channels through selective introduction of 
new products and an upgrade in technology, to ensure that our 
growth targets are sufficiently met and, where possible, exceeded. 

CONSUMER BANKING 

Despite a visible slowdown in the UAE’s consumer lending 
landscape as a whole, CBD launched a number of new initiatives 
and crossed some major milestones in 2010. The Bank unveiled 
its Attijari Points Rewards Program this year, becoming the first 
Bank in Dubai to offer a unique, bank-wide loyalty program 
that rewards customers for not just the transactions they make 
across a variety of CBD’s products and services, but also for 
simply signing up for them. It is our unique way to recognise, 
acknowledge and reward loyal clients as well as strengthen the 
Bank’s core preferred market segment of high and ultra-high 
net worth clients, which the Bank has been actively targeting 
through its Al Dana Wealth Management offering.

With the Bank’s intense focus on the affluent customers, we 
extended our reach to the target segment in 2010 by opening 
three new state-of-the-art Al Dana Wealth Management 
Centres – two in Dubai (Umm Suqeim II and Al Quoz), and 
one in Ras Al-Khaimah, the first being part of an entire new 
branch for CBD. 

We continued to make refinements to our long-term strategy 
of service excellence and launched a drive to further improve 
service standards at our branches during the year. The Bank 
issued a new set of guidelines which match international service 
standards for our branch network, and kept up the momentum 
by measuring the outcomes through customer satisfaction 
surveys and mystery shopping exercises across our network of 
branches.  It is also encouraging to note that the recent client 
satisfaction surveys show that our high net worth clients in 
particular are very satisfied with our service levels. 
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The Report of the Board of Directors Continued

As a result of our single-minded focus on service excellence, 
CBD improved its service levels tremendously, as monitored 
by independent, external sources. In an independent study 
benchmarking the quality of customer service amongst UAE 
banks conducted by market research and consultancy firm Ethos 
Consultancy, CBD improved both its ranking and performance 
levels in every channel of customer service delivery.

Additionally, in 2010, CBD outsourced its credit card 
operations to achieve cost-efficiency and operational excellence 
while at the same time maintaining a strict quality control on 
the operations through our in-house monitoring team.

The Bank enhanced its services towards its e-channels by 
adding more utility payment companies. Now, CBD’s privileged 
customers can make utility bill payments (water, electricity, 
Etisalat and Du bills), pay for DNRD services through www.
eform.ae by Direct Debit or Cash Online products, and even 
pay for Dubai Municipality E-services through Direct Debit 
service without having to step out of their home or office.

To widen its reach in serving its clients, CBD now has a 
network of about 165 ATMs and 43 cheque deposit machines 
spread across the UAE. The installation of additional ATMs 
and cheque deposit machines support.

ISLAMIC BANKING

2010 has been an exceptional year for Attijari Al Islami, CBD’s 
Islamic Banking division, where the Bank has continued to 
show steady growth and delivered notable achievements, 
particularly within product development and risk management 
framework.

Islamic Banking is one of the most rapidly developing segments 
among the Bank’s various divisions, and it is our pleasure to 
inform you that Islamic deposits now account for more than 
10 per cent of the Bank’s total deposit base, a remarkable 
achievement in two years.

Attijari	Al	Islami	offers	Islamic	banking	products/services	that	
combine our financial expertise with the enduring values of 
our Islamic clients.  CBD now has 23 Attijari Al Islami centres 
across the UAE. We launched three new products in 2010, 
taking the number of our Islamic product offerings to 17 this 
year.

The Attijari Al Islami Supervisory Committee comprises three 
of the leading scholars in the field of Islamic banking.  The 
role of these scholars is to review the operations of Attijari 
Al Islami, supervise its development of Islamic products, and 
determine the Shari’a compliance of the Bank’s existing and 
new products.

TREASURY AND ASSET LIABILITY MANAGEMENT

The 2010 story highlighted contrasting performances of the 
established economies and the emerging ones. Most of the 
developed economies continued to suffer from stunted growth 
and high unemployment rates whilst emerging markets 
outperformed expectations of growth and, in some cases, 
introduced steps to slow down their economies to avoid fresh 
bubble formation in their equity and real estate markets. 

Europe saw problems at some members of the Euro Zone, with 
Greece and Ireland forced to seek financial aid to help them 
manage their sovereign debt obligations. Commodity prices 
surged higher driven by demand from emerging economies, 
especially from China. Gold hit an all-time high as investors 
looked for a safe haven investment in the face of a constantly 
weakening US dollar. 

Interest rates in the US, the Euro area, the UK and Japan 
remained close to zero whilst emerging markets and 
commodity-rich Australia raised their rates during the year. 
Stock markets performed well globally as return on equity 
was considered more attractive than that being offered by the 
interest rate markets. 
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The Bank won EMEA Finance Award for the 
"Best Bank in the UAE 2010"

Banks in the UAE saw intense competition for customer 
deposits in the first half of the year, but this abated over the 
second half when the gap between customer deposits and loans 
was reduced by overseas funds flowing into the country on the 
back of an improving economy and better rates than being 
offered in other markets. 

It is a testament to CBD that despite cutthroat competition 
for deposits, the Bank was able to operate well within the 
set liquidity limits throughout the year and at the same time 
achieve one of the lowest costs of funding amongst all banks 
operating in the UAE. 

Although the recently proposed regulations from the Bank for 
International Settlements will not be introduced immediately, 
we will begin to monitor their potential impact upon our 
balance sheet and plan to ensure that the Bank will be 
compliant as and when such regulations are mandated by the 
UAE Central Bank.

GROUP RISK MANAGEMENT

The role of the Group Risk Management Department is to 
develop, upgrade, and assist in executing a bank-wide risk-
management strategy, policy and framework. The department 
comprises of credit, market, operational, and IT risks units.

Credit Risk: As part of the Basel II implementation, the bank 
utilises a 14-grade internal ratings system to assess credit risk, 
including portfolio analysis, modelling and stress-testing. 
In line with the Bank’s conservative lending policies, credit 
approval is made through a multi-tier delegated authority 
system with relatively moderate authorisation limits, with no 
individual enjoying single approval powers. During the year, 
this system was enhanced to include financial and portfolio 
analysis, and internal rating methodology. 

Market Risk: The main market risk to which CBD is exposed 
arises from its portfolio of investment securities and equity. 
As part of its Basel II implementation, the Bank has since 
been using value-at-risk (VaR) models to measure market risk 
exposure in the trading book, as well as the banking book. 

The Treasury control middle office has been fully set up within 
the market risk department, and an end-to-end framework has 
been put in place to ensure that proper risk control is applied.

Operational Risk: The Bank has an approved framework 
for end-to-end management of its operational risks, which 
involves the active participation of employees at all levels. 
The operational risk management (ORM) plan places an 
equal emphasis on the identification, assessment, control and 
reporting of operational risks and on quantification of potential 
risks and resultant losses therein, if any. 

Moreover, the Group conducts an assessment of the disaster 
recovery and business continuity preparedness, as well as detailed 
system	risk	assessments	of	all	new/upgraded	IT	systems	and	
assessment of operational risk elements in any new products 
to be launched or procedures to be implemented. Compliance 
with policies and procedures is supported by periodic reviews 
undertaken by Internal Audit. 

IT Risks (GRC & Security): In 2010, CBD formally established 
its IT GRC Unit (Governance, Risk Management and 
Compliance Unit) under the independent Risk Management 
Department, and at an arm’s length from the Systems & 
Operations Group. 

The unit has as mission to facilitate sound decisions regarding 
IT risks, stimulate behaviour change towards a secure 
environment in the Bank and achieve a compliant environment 
for technology, people and processes. 
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The Bank expanded Attijari Al Islami activities in both 
Consumer and Corporate sectors, opening four new 
dedicated centers in various emirates

IT GRC is looking after information security policies, security 
monitoring, incident response, regular security assessments 
and security awareness, amongst many other important areas 
within IT Security and IT Risk Management areas.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND TRAINING

Emiratisation remains at the core of CBD’s Human Resource 
strategy. The upward trend continues with UAE Nationals 
now constituting 41 per cent of all employees placed across 
the Bank at all levels and, most importantly, in key leadership 
positions. Our success in encouraging and developing Emiratis 
was, once again, celebrated and recognised in 2010 with the 
Human Resources Development Award for 2009.

In 2010, CBD launched its Management Trainee Programme, 
carefully selecting a group of high GPA scoring, young UAE 
Nationals for an intensive one-year programme of learning and 
development across all divisions of the Bank. 

Training and Development, generally, has had a strong 
focus in 2010 with 92 per cent more staff attending training 
programmes compared with 2009. New training initiatives 
have been introduced, designed in partnership with business 
managers. These have been directed at improving core skills 
and, particularly, at building solid relationships with customers. 
These programmes are designed for all staff so that we do not 
neglect the abilities and career advancement prospects of our 
various nationalities.

The HR department has implemented a new e-Recruiting 
system, bringing CBD to the forefront of technology in this 
very important area, enabling our candidate experience to 
be significantly enhanced, the process streamlined and made 
quicker and our search opportunities widened and targeted.

CBD places great emphasis on employee engagement and 
continues with our annual Employee Survey, benchmarking to 
international standards and taking feedback from staff on all 
aspects of the work experience and seeking to involve staff in 
making improvements each year.

GROUP FINANCE

Group Finance is in-charge of the Bank’s financial management, 
accounting, and supervision processes. In addition to ensuring 
compliance with regulatory and Basel II reporting requirements, 
the department is also responsible for delivering quarterly and 
annual financial statements in accordance with IFRS. 

The department undertakes regular review of the Bank’s 
Financial and Accounting Policies and is responsible for 
ensuring the adoption and implementation of best practices in 
financial management. 

With a view to active stakeholder management, the department 
continues to support key external stakeholders such as External 
Auditors, Financial Audit Department of Government of 
Dubai, UAE Central Bank Examiners, Dubai Financial 
Markets, Securities and Commodities Authority and other 
relevant bodies. 

In response to evolving market conditions, regulatory changes, 
growing scale and scope of business requirements, the 
department invested in financially specialised staff development 
initiatives with the aim of establishing the Bank as an employer 
of choice.

Other than supporting various internal divisions with initiatives 
such as peer group comparison, rolling forecasts, consolidated 
dashboards, and automation through implementation of 
Enterprise Resource Planning, Group Finance implemented 
data warehousing solutions by creating a business layer that 
insulates the end-user from the complexity of the database. 
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During the year, the department rolled out an employee 
performance measurement and benchmarking process 
called Job Efficiency Tracking System ( JETS). JETS was 
implemented for a handful of departments in 2010, and will be 
implemented across the organisation in 2011.

CENTRAL OPERATIONS DEPARTMENT

Central Operations Department identified certain important 
customer service initiatives in 2010, and fully automated those 
to enhance customer satisfaction. The Bank offers Internet 
Banking facility in addition to having installed additional 
automated cheque deposit machines, thus improving 
turnaround times for customers. 
The department also launched corporate cash collection service 
and integrated Wages Protection System with Funds Transfer 
System for efficient management and quality processing, 
resulting in improved customer satisfaction.

TRADE FINANCE SERVICES CENTRE 

During 2010, the Trade Services Centre automated a number 
of processes and procedures to offer the Bank’s corporate and 
commercial clients the choice of initiating a number of services 
online, from the convenience of their desktop. Among them 
were services such as Letters of Credit (LCs) and Guarantee 
Applications, with customers now able to also view and 
print their advices and LC copies online. During the year, 
the department also launched a ‘Direct Document Delivery 
Service’ to customers, wherein the paperwork is delivered to the 
customers instead of them having to visit the Bank’s branches 
or the Trade Services Centre to collect documents.

Moreover, the ‘Trade Sales’ initiative – wherein department 
managers visit clients along with relationship managers – was 
successfully implemented. The twin objectives of the initiative 
are to increase share of wallet of the Trade Business, as well as 
to play an advisory role to customers on the technicalities of 
International Trade.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

CBD undertook a major project to upgrade its IT infrastructure 
by upgrading its servers, which resulted in quicker turnaround 
times and faster transaction performance for the Bank’s clients, 
while at the same time reducing waste and operational cost for 
the Bank. 

The Bank’s customers now extensively use its online transaction 
platforms, with consumer banking customers making bill 
payments through our online banking channel in 2010. 
Simultaneously, corporate banking customers made funds 
transfer, including the money transferred by the Bank under 
the Ministry of Labour’s WPS scheme.

The department also launched the “Go Green” initiative in 2010 
by introducing server virtualisation and database consolidation, 
thus reducing servers and also resulting in efficiency of scales 
and lower power consumption. This initiative also enabled 
aiming at achieving greater efficiency and availability by 
equipping the Disaster Recovery Centre in Sharjah.

We continued our initiatives aimed at enhancing the Bank’s 
data security by introducing end-point security, which helps 
prevent data leakage from our customers’ computers, greatly 
reducing	 the	 possibility	 of	 identity	 theft	 and/or	 phishing,	 a	
growing menace in today’s e-enabled banking age.
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Major Indicators
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The Shareholders 
Commercial Bank of Dubai PSC

REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Commercial Bank of Dubai PSC (“the Bank”) 
and its subsidiary CBD Financial Services LLC (collectively referred to as “the Group”), which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2010, the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (comprising 
a consolidated statement of comprehensive income and a separate consolidated income statement), changes in equity 
and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, we 
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2010, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and comply with the relevant 
Articles of the Company and the UAE Federal Law No. 8 of 1984 (as amended).

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
As required by the UAE Federal Law No. 8 of 1984 (as amended), we further confirm that we have obtained all information 
and explanations necessary for our audit, that proper financial records have been kept by the Group, and the contents of 
the Directors’ report which relate to these consolidated financial statements are in agreement with the Group’s financial 
records. We are not aware of any violation of the above mentioned Law and the Articles of Association having occurred 
during the year ended 31 December 2010, which may have had a material adverse effect on the business of the Group or 
its financial position.

Munther Dajani
Registration No: 268                        30 January 2011
                          KPMG  

Report of the Auditors to the Shareholders
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position As at 31 December 2010

  Note 2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000

ASSETS
Cash and balances with Central Bank 8 5,076,443 3,651,928
Due from banks 9 2,297,520 1,159,071
Loans and advances and Islamic financing 10 27,164,988 28,376,823
Investment securities 11 1,708,883 1,896,575
Property and equipment 12 616,475 576,883
Other assets 13 1,646,939 1,121,772
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total assets  38,511,248 36,783,052
===========================================================================================================

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

LIABILITIES
Due to banks 14 309,273 766,568
Customers’ deposits and Islamic customers’ deposits 15 29,209,662 27,928,454
Medium term borrowing 16 1,469,200 1,469,200
Other liabilities 17 1,644,172 1,268,870
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total liabilities  32,632,307 31,433,092
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

EQUITY
Share capital 18 1,941,287 1,764,806
Legal reserve 18 1,379,683 1,379,683
Capital reserve 18 38,638 38,638
General reserve 18 1,100,000 1,100,000
Cumulative changes in fair values of AFS investments 18 36,292 65,511
Cumulative changes in fair values of cash flow hedge instruments 18 (20,702) (29,034)
Reserve for proposed bonus issue 18 - 176,481
Proposed cash dividend 18 388,257 264,721
Proposed directors’ remuneration 18 7,000 6,000
Retained earnings  1,008,486 583,154
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total equity  5,878,941 5,349,960
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total liabilities and equity  38,511,248 36,783,052
===========================================================================================================

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 30th of January 2011.

The attached notes on pages 30 to 91 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
The report of the Auditors is set out on page 24.

H.E. Ahmed Humaid Al Tayer
Chairman

H.E. Saeed Ahmed Ghobash
Deputy Chairman

Mr. Peter Baltussen
Chief Executive Officer
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 Note 2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000

Interest income and income from Islamic financing 19 1,968,464 2,038,366
Interest expense and distributions to Islamic depositors 20 (582,986) (720,831)

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Net interest income and net income from Islamic financing   1,385,478 1,317,535

Net fees and commission income 21 344,576 348,313
Net gains from dealing in foreign currencies  88,537 86,349
Net gains from investments at fair value through profit or 
   loss – held for trading 22 14,459 10,225
Net gains / (losses) from sale of available-for-sale investments  23,974 (22,354)
Dividend income  23 7,897 10,621
Other income  25,122 17,233
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  1,890,043 1,767,922

Provisions for impairment losses on loans and advances and 
   Islamic financing  (554,453) (411,108)
Recoveries  28,002 25,851
Impairment losses on available-for-sale investments 11.2 - (44,023)
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Net interest, net income from Islamic financing and other income  1,363,592 1,338,642
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
General and administrative expenses 24 (487,702) (484,170)
Depreciation 12 (55,301) (51,127)
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total expenses  (543,003) (535,297)
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Net profit for the year  820,589 803,345
===========================================================================================================
Basic and diluted earnings per share 25 AED 0.42 AED 0.41
===========================================================================================================

The attached notes on pages 30 to 91 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

Appropriations have been reflected in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The report of the Auditors is set out on page 24.

Consolidated Income Statement For the year ended 31 December 2010
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  2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000

Net profit for the year  820,589 803,345

Other comprehensive income:   

Changes in fair value of effective portion of cash flow hedge  8,332 (23,489)

Changes in available-for-sale investments:
  
Realized (gains) / losses on sale of available-for-sale investments  (23,974) 22,354
Amortization of reclassified investments  23,320 32,016
Revaluation of available-for-sale investments  (28,565) (13,695)
Impairment losses on available-for-sale investments  - 44,023

Net change in available-for-sale investments   (29,219) 84,698
Directors’ remuneration  (6,000) (6,000)
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Other comprehensive (expense) / income for the year  (26,887) 55,209
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total comprehensive income for the year  793,702 858,554
===========================================================================================================

The attached notes on pages 30 to 91 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 

The report of the Auditors is set out on page 24.  

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income For the year ended 31 December 2010
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     Cumulative Cumulative
     changes in changes in
     fair values fair values 
 Share Legal Capital General of AFS of hedge Retained Proposed 
 capital reserve reserve reserve investments instruments earnings distributions Total
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

At 1 January 2009 1,411,845   1,379,679 38,638 1,100,000 (19,187) (5,545) 227,015 570,738 4,703,183

Transactions with owners, recorded directly           
    in equity:          
Bonus shares (25%) 352,961 - - - - - - (352,961) -
Cash dividend paid (15%) - - - - - - - (211,777) (211,777)
Proposed bonus issue (10%) - - - - - - (176,481) 176,481 -
Proposed cash dividend (15%) - - - - - - (264,721) 264,721 -
Proposed directors’ remuneration -  - - - - - (6,000) 6,000 -
Transfer to legal reserve - 4 - - - - (4) - -
Total comprehensive income for the  year - - - - 84,698 (23,489) 803,345 (6,000) 858,554
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
At 31 December 2009 1,764,806 1,379,683 38,638 1,100,000 65,511 (29,034) 583,154 447,202 5,349,960

Transactions with owners, recorded directly           
    in equity:          
Bonus shares (10%) 176,481 - - - - - - (176,481) -
Cash dividend paid (15%) - - - - - - - (264,721) (264,721)
Proposed cash dividend (20%) - - - - - - (388,257) 388,257 -
Proposed directors’ remuneration -  - - - - - (7,000) 7,000 -
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - (29,219) 8,332 820,589 (6,000) 793,702
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
At 31 December 2010 1,941,287 1,379,683 38,638 1,100,000 36,292 (20,702) 1,008,486 395,257 5,878,941
===========================================================================================================

The attached notes on pages 30 to 91 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
The report of the Auditors is set out on page 24. 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity For the year ended 31 December 2010
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 Note 2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year  820,589 803,345
Adjustments for:
Depreciation  55,301 51,127
Assets written off  - 1,668
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments   - 44,023
Gain on disposal of property and equipment  (5) (27)
Dividend income  (7,897) (10,621)
Net unrealized gains on investments at fair value through profit or 
    loss – held for trading net of forex translation  (14,036) (11,439)
Realized (gains) / losses on sale of investments  (22,999) 23,222
Net unrealized losses on derivatives  15,881 26,889
Amortization of reclassified investments  883 (2,518)
Directors’ remuneration paid  (6,000) (6,000)
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  841,717 919,669

(Increase) / decrease in statutory reserve with the Central Bank  (61,389) 176,084
Decrease in loans and advances and Islamic financing  1,211,835 202,435
Increase in other assets  (219,458) (12,478)
Increase in customers’ deposits and Islamic customers’ deposits  1,281,208 2,173,806
Increase / (decrease) in other liabilities  62,044 (19,268)
(Decrease) / increase  in due to banks maturing after three months  (147,000) 638
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Net cash flow from operating activities  2,968,957 3,440,886
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investments  (165,871) (265,810)
Purchase of property and equipment  (95,524) (153,914)
Dividend income  7,897 10,621
Proceeds from sale of investments  360,496 633,952
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment  636 62
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Net cash flow from investing activities  107,634 224,911
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividend paid  (264,721) (211,777)
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Net cash flow used in  financing activities  (264,721) (211,777)
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Net increase  in cash and cash equivalents  2,811,870 3,454,020

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  2,747,245 (706,775)
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 26 5,559,115 2,747,245
===========================================================================================================

The attached notes on pages 30 to 91 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
The report of the Auditors is set out on page 24.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows For the year ended 31 December 2010
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1. LEGAL STATUS AND ACTIVITIES

 Commercial Bank of Dubai PSC (“the Bank”) was incorporated in Dubai, United Arab Emirates in 1969 and is registered as a 
Public Shareholding Company (PSC) in accordance with Federal Law No. 8 of 1984 (as amended). The Bank is listed on the Dubai 
Financial Market. 

 
 The consolidated financial statements of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2010 comprise the results of the Bank and its 

subsidiary CBD Financial Services LLC (together referred to as “the Group”). The subsidiary was incorporated on 9 March 2005 
in Dubai, United Arab Emirates and is registered as a limited liability company in accordance with Federal Law No. 8 of 1984 (as 
amended). The Bank holds a 100% interest in its subsidiary. The Bank’s principal activity is commercial banking while that of its 
subsidiary is to act as a broker for local shares and bonds. The registered address of the Group is Al Ittihad Street, P.O. Box 2668, 
Dubai, United Arab Emirates. 

 
2. DISCLOSURE POLICY

 The Group has laid down the disclosure policy to ensure compliance with all applicable guidelines concerning disclosure of 
material non public information, including International Financial Reporting Standards, the Central Bank of UAE (lead regulator), 
BASEL II Pillar 3 guidelines laid down by CBUAE, Emirates Securities and Commodities Authority (ESCA) and Dubai Financial 
Market (DFM).

 The following are the key features of the Group’s disclosure policy concerning disclosure of financial information:

a) Materiality thresholds

 Information is material if its omission or misstatement could influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
financial statements. Materiality depends on the size of the item or error judged in the particular circumstances of its omission or 
misstatement, and / or any material information that might affect the share price. The Group, in order to ensure adequate disclosure 
lays down a materiality threshold, so that no material information is omitted or misstated; at the same time it does not jeopardize 
its competitive position. 

b) Internal controls

 In order to ensure true and fair disclosure, the Group has established controls including detailed procedures for finalization and 
review of financial disclosures. In addition, the financial statements are subject to a quarterly review and year end audit procedures 
by the Group’s external auditors.

c) Frequency and medium of disclosure

 Interim financial results are disclosed on a quarterly basis while complete financial statements complying with the requirements 
of IFRS, Basel II Pillar 3 and other guidelines from Central Bank is made on an annual basis. Disclosures of material non public 
financial information are made by the Financial Control Department of the Group in coordination with Marketing Department 
through the following mediums:

• Sending reviewed quarterly and annual audited financial statements along with Directors’ report to DFM and ESCA;
• Hosting quarterly and annual financial statements on the Group’s website;
• Publication of annual audited financial statements in both Arabic and English newspapers after the approval  of the Central 

Bank of UAE and the Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (AGM); 
• Management Discussion and Analysis in Arabic and English newspapers in a manner that ensures wide dissemination; and
• Publication of financials in the annual report.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements For the year ended 31 December 2010



31Annual Report 2010

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) For the year ended 31 December 2010

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

a) Statement of compliance
 
 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 

as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), interpretation issued by international financial reporting 
interpretations committee (IFRIC) and applicable requirements of laws of the U.A.E. 

 As required by the Emirates Securities and Commodities Authority (ESCA) notification number 85/2009 dated January 6, 2009, 
the Group’s exposure in cash and advances with Central Bank, Due from Banks and Investment Securities outside the UAE have 
been presented under the respective notes.

b) Basis of measurement

 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following: 

• Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value;
• Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value;
• Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value; and
• Granted land which is valued at the market value on the date of grant. 

c) Functional and presentation currency

 The financial statements are presented in United Arab Emirates Dirhams (“AED”), which is the Group’s “functional currency”, 
rounded to the nearest thousand.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
 The accounting policies setout below have been applied consistently to all the previous period presented in these consolidated 

financial statements.

 Along with these consolidated financial statements, the Group has presented Basel II Pillar 3 disclosures in accordance with the 
guidelines issued by the Central Bank. The adoption of Basel II Pillar 3 guidelines has impacted the type and amount of disclosures 
made in these consolidated financial statements, but has no impact on the reported profits or financial position of the Group. In 
accordance with the requirements of Basel II, the Group has provided full comparative information.

 The standards and interpretations that are issued but not yet effective for accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2010 are as 
follows: 

IFRS - 9 Financial Instruments: Effective 1 January 2013;
IAS - 24 (Revised) - Related Party Disclosures: Effective 1 January 2011; 
IAS - 32 (Amended) - Financial Instruments: Presentation: Effective1 February   2010;
IFRIC - 14 (Amended) - Prepayment of Minimum Funding Requirement: Effective 1 January 2011;
IFRIC - 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments: Effective 1 July 2010. 

 Management has assessed the impact of the new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations and amendments to 
publish standards, and concluded that they are either not relevant to the Group or their impact is limited to the disclosures and 
presentation requirement in the financial statements. Except IFRS – 9 which is expected to have a pervasive impact on the Group 
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) For the year ended 31 December 2010

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

a) Basis of consolidation
 
 Subsidiary
 The subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Bank. Control exists when the Bank has power, directly or indirectly, to govern 

the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The financial statements of the subsidiary 
are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the control commences until the date that control ceases.

 
 Transactions eliminated on consolidation
 Intra-group balances and any unrealized gains arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated 

financial statements. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no 
evidence of impairment. 

b) Financial instruments

 A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset for the Group and a financial liability or equity 
instrument for another party. The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition in the following categories:  

 Classification
• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and 

those designated to be fair valued through profit or loss at inception.  A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated by management. Derivatives are also categorized as 
held for trading unless they are designated as hedges.

• Loans and advances: Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed and determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They arise when the Group provides money directly to the borrower with no intention of trading 
the receivable.

• Held-to-maturity: Investments classified as held-to-maturity are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturities that the Group’s management has the intention of and the ability to hold to maturity. 

• Available-for-sale: Available-for-sale investments are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-
sale or not classified as (a) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, (b) loans and advances or (c) held-to-maturity 
investments.

 Initial recognition
 Purchases and sales of investment securities are recognized on the trade date which is the date on which the Group commits to 

purchase or sell the securities. Loans and advances are recognized when cash is advanced to the borrowers. Financial assets are 
initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss.

 De-recognition
 Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where the Group 

has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. A financial liability is derecognized when its contractual 
obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) For the year ended 31 December 2010

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

b) Financial instruments (continued)

 Subsequent measurement
 Financial assets available-for-sale and investments at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value.

 Loans and advances and held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

 Gains and losses on subsequent measurement
 Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the investments at fair value through profit or loss category are included 

in the income statement in the period in which they arise. 

 Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale investments are recognized directly in other 
comprehensive income, until the financial asset is derecognized or impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognized in equity is recognized in the income statement. In cases where available-for-sale investments with a fixed maturity are 
reclassified to held-to-maturity investments, the fair value gains or losses until the date of the reclassification are held in equity 
and amortized to the income statement over the remaining life of the held-to-maturity investments using the effective interest rate 
method.

 Fair value measurement principles
 Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in 

an arm’s length transaction on the measurement date. 

 When available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted prices in an active market for that instrument. 
A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available and represent actual and regularly occurring 
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. 

 If a market for a financial instrument is not active, the Group establishes fair value using valuation technique. Valuation techniques 
include using recent arm’s length transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties (if available), reference to the current fair 
value of other instrument that are substantially the same, net present value techniques and discounted cash flow methods. The 
chosen valuation technique makes maximum use of market inputs, relies as little as possible on estimates specific to the Group, 
incorporates all factors that market participants would consider in setting a price, and is consistent with accepted economic 
methodologies for pricing financial instruments. Inputs to valuation techniques reasonably represent market expectations and 
measures of the risk-return factors inherent in the financial instrument. The fair values of the Group’s investment in funds are 
based on the net asset value obtained from the fund managers with whom the funds are placed. 

 Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include adjustments to take account of the credit risk of the Group and the 
counterparty, where appropriate. Fair value estimates obtained from models are adjusted for any other factors, such as liquidity 
risk or model uncertainties, to the extent that the Group believes a third-party market participant would take them into account in 
pricing a transaction. 

 
 The fair value of derivatives that are not exchange traded is estimated at the present value of the amount that the Group would 

receive or pay to terminate the contract at the reporting date taking into account current market conditions and the current 
creditworthiness of the counterparty.
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b) Financial instruments (continued)

 Fair value hierarchy
 The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making 

the measurements:

• Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument. A financial instrument is regarded 
as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily  and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry, 
group, pricing service or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly recurring market transactions on an 
arm’s length basis. 

• Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable input, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 
This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted 
prices for identical or similar instruments; or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly 
observable from market data.

• Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments where the valuation 
technique includes inputs based on unobservable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s 
valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments where significant 
unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments.

 Identification and measurement of impairment
 At each reporting date the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial assets not carried at fair value through 

profit or loss are impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets are impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that 
a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the assets, and that the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows 
of the assets that can be estimated reliably.

 Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include significant financial difficulty of the 
borrower or issuer, default or delinquency by a borrower, restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group 
would not otherwise consider, indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market 
for a security, or other observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or 
issuers in the group, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the group. In addition, for an investment in an equity 
security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment.

 The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and advances and held-to-maturity investment securities at both a specific 
asset and collective level.

 Individually assessed loans
 At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses on a case-by-case basis whether there is any objective evidence that a loan is 

impaired. Impairment losses on assets carried at amortized cost are measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. This 
procedure is applied to all accounts that are considered individually significant. In determining impairment losses on these loans, 
the following factors are considered:

- the Group’s aggregate exposure to the customer;
- the viability of the customer’s business model and capability to trade successfully out of financial difficulties and generate 

sufficient cash flow to service its debt obligations;
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b) Financial instruments (continued)

 Identification and measurement of impairment (continued)

 Individually assessed loans (continued)

- the amount and timing of expected receipts and recoveries;
- the likely dividend available on liquidation or bankruptcy;
- the extent of other creditors’ commitments ranking ahead of, or pari passu with, the Group and the likelihood of other creditors 

continuing to support the company;
- the complexity of determining the aggregate amount and ranking of all creditor claims and the extent to which legal and 

insurance uncertainties are evident;
- the realizable value of security (or other credit mitigants) and likelihood of successful repossession; 
- the likely deduction of any costs involved in recovery of amounts outstanding; and
- the ability of the borrower to obtain, and make payments in, the currency of the loan if not local currency.

 Impairment losses are recognized in income statement and reflected in an allowance account against loans and advances. When a 
subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through income 
statement.

 Collectively assessed loans
 Impairment is determined on a collective basis in two different scenarios:

- for loans subject to individual assessment to cover losses which have been incurred but have not yet been identified; and
- for homogeneous groups of loans that are not considered individually significant.

 Incurred but not yet identified impairment
 Individually assessed loans for which no evidence of loss has been identified (performing loans) are grouped together according 

to their credit risk characteristics for the purpose of calculating an estimated collective loss. This arises from individual loan 
impairment at the balance sheet date which will only be specifically identified in the future.

 The collective impairment loss is determined after taking into account:

- historical loss experience in portfolios of similar risk characteristics (for example, by industry sector, loan grade or product);
- the estimated period between impairment occurring and the loss being identified and evidenced by the establishment of an 

appropriate specific allowance against the individual loan; and
- management’s judgement as to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual level of inherent losses 

is likely to be greater or less than that suggested by historical experience.

 The period between a loss occurring and its identification is estimated by the management for each portfolio grouping.

 Homogeneous groups of loans
 For homogeneous groups of loans that are not considered individually significant, the Group uses historical trends of the 

probability of default, timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether 
current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less. Default rates, loss rates and the 
expected timing of future recoveries are regularly benchmarked against actual outcomes to ensure that they remain appropriate.
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b) Financial instruments (continued)

 Identification and measurement of impairment (continued)

 Impairment on investments classified as available-for-sale
 The Group determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged 

decline in the fair value below its cost. Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are recognized by transferring 
the cumulative loss that has been recognized in other comprehensive income to income statement as a reclassification adjustment. 
The cumulative loss that is reclassified from other comprehensive income to income statement is the difference between the 
acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortisation, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously 
recognized in income statement. Changes in impairment provisions attributable to time value are reflected as a component of 
interest income.

 If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security increases and the increase can be objectively 
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in income statement, the impairment loss is reversed, with 
the amount of the reversal recognised in income statement. However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired 
available-for-sale equity security is not reversed through the income statement and is recognised directly in other comprehensive 
income.

c) Derivative financial instruments

 Classification
 The Group enters into derivative financial instruments including forwards, futures, swaps and options in the foreign exchange 

and capital markets. Derivative financial instruments, that do not qualify for hedge accounting are classified as “FVPL – financial 
assets held for trading” financial instruments.

 Initial and subsequent measurement
 In the normal course of business, the fair value of a derivative on initial recognition is the transaction price. Subsequent to their 

initial recognition, derivative financial instruments are stated at fair values. Fair values are generally obtained by reference to 
quoted market prices in active markets, or by using valuation techniques when an active market does not exist.

 Derivative financial instruments with positive market values (unrealised gains) are included in assets and derivative financial 
instruments with negative market values (unrealised losses) are included in liabilities. 

 Gains and losses on subsequent measurement
 The gains or losses from derivative financial instruments classified as held for trading are taken to the income statement

d) Hedging instruments

 When derivatives are designated as hedges, the Group classifies them as either:

• fair value hedges which hedge the change in the fair value of recognized assets or liabilities; or

• cash flow hedges which hedge the exposure to variability in highly probable future cash flows attributable to a recognized asset 
or liability or a forecast transaction. 

 Hedge accounting is applied to derivatives designated as hedging instruments in fair value or cash flow hedge provided certain 
criteria are met.
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d) Hedging instruments (continued)

 Hedge accounting 
 Hedge documentation
 At the inception of the hedge, formal documentation of the hedge relationship must be established. The hedge documentation 

prepared at the inception of the hedge must include a description of the following:

• The Group’s risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge;
• The nature of risk being hedged;
• Clear identification of the hedged item and the hedging instrument; and
• How the Group will assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship on an ongoing basis.

 Hedge effectiveness testing
 The hedge is regarded as highly effective if both of the following conditions are met:

• At the inception of the hedge and in subsequent periods, the hedge is expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes 
in fair value or cash flows of the hedging instruments with corresponding changes in the hedged risk and should be reliably 
measurable;  and

• The actual results of the hedge are within a range of 80 to 125 percent.

 In case of a cash flow hedge, prospective hedge effectiveness is assessed by matching the critical terms of hedging instruments 
and hedged items.

 Fair value hedges
 Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedging instruments are recorded in the income 

statement, along with changes in the fair value of the assets, liabilities or group thereof that are attributable to the hedged risk. 

 Cash flow hedges
 The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognized 

in other comprehensive income. Any gain or loss in fair value relating to an ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the 
income statement.

 Discontinuance of hedge accounting
 The hedge accounting is discontinued when a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria 

for hedge accounting. At that point of time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument that has been recognized in other 
comprehensive income remains in other comprehensive income until the forecast transaction occurs. When a forecast transaction 
is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in other comprehensive income is immediately 
transferred to the income statement.

 Hedges that do not qualify for hedge accounting
 For hedges that do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the hedging 

instrument are taken directly to the income statement for the period.

e) Due from banks 

 Amounts due from banks are stated at amortised cost less provision for impairment, if any.



38 Commercial Bank of Dubai

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) For the year ended 31 December 2010

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

f) Loans and advances

 Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market 
and that the Group does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term.

 Loans and advances are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at 
their amortized cost using the effective interest method, except when the Group chooses to carry the loans and advances at fair 
value through profit or loss.

g) Islamic financing

 In addition to conventional banking products, the Group offers its customers certain non-interest based banking products, which 
are approved by Sharia’a Supervisory Board. Islamic Financing consists of the following:

 Murabaha
 An agreement whereby the Group sells to a customer, commodity or asset (subject asset), which the Group has purchased and 

acquired, based on a promise received from the customer to buy the item purchased according to specific terms and conditions. 
The selling price comprises the cost of the subject asset and an agreed profit margin. Income is recognized on an accrual basis 
adjusted by actual  income when received. 

 Ijarah
 Ijarah refers to lease of the asset, which the Group (Lessor) constructs or purchases as per customer (Lessee) request based on the 

promise to lease the asset for a fixed term against certain rent installment. Ijara can end by transferring the ownership of the asset 
to the lessee in case of Ijara Muntahia Bittamleek.

 Islamic financing products are measured at amortized cost, using the effective profit method, less any amounts written off, 
allowance for doubtful accounts and unearned income.

 The effective profit rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flow through the expected life of the financial asset 
or liability, or , where appropriate, a shorter period.

 Allowance for impairment is made against Islamic financing when their recovery is in doubt taking into consideration IFRS 
requirements. Islamic financing are written off only when all possible courses of action to achieve have proved unsuccessful.

h) Property and equipment

 Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses except for granted land, which is 
stated at the market value at the date of grant. 

 Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of replacing an item of property 
and equipment is recognised in the carrying value of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within 
the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are 
recognised in the statement of income as incurred.

 The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with 
the carrying amount of the item of property and equipment. These are included in the income statement.

 Property and equipment are impaired if the carrying amount of the asset or its cash generating unit exceed its recoverable amount. 
The impairment loss is recognized in the income statement.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

h) Property and equipment (continued)

 The cost of all property and equipment other than freehold land and capital work in progress is depreciated using the straight-line 
method over the following estimated useful lives:

 Buildings 20 to 30 years
 Leasehold improvements 5 years
 Furniture, equipment and vehicles  3 to 5 years

 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

i) Due to banks and medium term borrowing

 Amounts due to banks and medium term borrowing are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration 
received, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

j) Customers’ deposits

 Customers’ deposits are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received. After initial recognition, all 
interest bearing deposits, other than liabilities classified as FVPL, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.  Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on settlement.

k) Islamic customers’ deposits

 The Islamic window obtains funds by entering into following kinds of agreements: 

 Mudaraba
 An agreement between the Group and a third party whereby one party would provide a certain amount of  funds which the other 

party (Mudarib) would then invest in a specific enterprise or activity against a specific share in the profit. The Mudarib would bear 
the loss in case of default, negligence or violation of any of the terms and conditions of the Mudarabah.

 Wakala
 An agreement between group and third party whereby one party (Muwakil) provides certain amount of funds which the other party 

(Wakil) would invest according to the terms and conditions of Wakala in return for a certain fee. The Wakil is obliged to return the 
invested amount in case of default, negligence or violation of any of the terms and conditions of the Wakala.

 Islamic customers’ deposits are initially measured at fair value which is normally consideration received net of directly attributable 
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at their amortized cost using the effective profit method.

l) Provisions

 A provision is recognized if as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated 
reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
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m) Employees’ terminal benefits and long-term incentive arrangements

 Provision is made for amounts payable under the UAE Federal Labour Law applicable to non UAE nationals’ accumulated periods 
of service at the balance sheet date. The Group pays its contributions in respect of UAE nationals under the UAE Pension and 
Social Security Law. Effective from 1 January 2007, the Group introduced a long term incentive plan. Under this plan the managers 
under certain grades are eligible for an incentive at the offering date contingent upon the Group’s performance up to an award date. 
The award is the percentage of the actual salary of the eligible managers. The salary includes the basic salary, allowance, national 
allowance and cost of living allowance as at the effective date.

n) Share capital

 The Group classifies capital instruments as financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual terms of the instruments. Incremental costs directly attributable  to the issue of an equity instrument are deducted from 
the initial measurement of the equity instruments. 

o) Dividend on ordinary shares

 Dividends payable on ordinary shares are recognized as a liability in the period in which they are approved by the Bank’s 
shareholders.

p) Offsetting

 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position when, and only when, 
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and it intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRSs/IASs, or of gains and losses arising from a 
group of similar transactions such as in the Group’s trading activity.

q) Cash and cash equivalents

 For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balances with 
the Central Bank (excluding statutory reserve), and amounts due from and due to banks with original maturity less than three 
months.

r) Interest income and expense

 Interest income and expense for all interest bearing financial instruments except for those classified as held for trading or 
designated at fair value, are recognized in ‘interest income’ and ‘interest expense’ in the income statement on an accrual basis 
using the effective interest rates of the financial assets or financial liabilities to which they relate.

 The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments earned or paid on a financial asset 
or a liability through its expected life or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or 
financial liability. The effective interest rate is established on initial recognition of the financial asset and liability and is not revised 
subsequently.

 When calculating effective interest rates, the Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial 
instruments, but not future credit losses. The calculation includes all amounts paid or received by the Group that are an integral 
part of the effective interest rate, including transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.
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r) Interest income and expense (continued)

 Interest on impaired financial assets is calculated by applying the original effective interest rate of the financial asset to the carrying 
amount as reduced by any allowance for impairment and is not recognized as interest income.

s) Income from Islamic financing and distributions to depositors

 Income from Islamic financing is recognized in the consolidated income statement using the effective profit method.

 The calculation of the effective profit rate includes all fees paid or received, transaction cost, and discounts or premiums that are 
an integral part of the effective profit rate. Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
issue or disposal of a financial asset.

 Distribution to Depositors (Islamic products) is calculated according to the Group’s standard procedures and is approved by the 
Group’s Sharia’a Supervisory Board.

t) Fees and commission

 Fees and commission income and expenses that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or liability are included 
in the measurement of effective interest rate.

 Other fees and commission income earned from the provision of services are recognized as revenue, as and when the services are 
rendered or time proportion basis as applicable.

u) Income from investments

 Net income from investments at fair value through profit or loss which arises from gains and losses resulting from disposal, and 
from the fair valuation of such investments, are recognized when they occur.

v) Dividend income

 Dividend income is recognized when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established. 

w) Foreign currencies

 Foreign currency transactions are recorded at rates of exchange ruling at the value dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date, which are stated at historical cost, are translated at the foreign 
exchange rate ruling at that date. 

 Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, which are stated at historical cost, are translated at the 
foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
that are stated at fair value are translated to AED at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates that the fair values were 
determined.

 Forward foreign exchange contracts are translated into AED at mid market rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Foreign 
exchange differences arising on translation are recognized in the income statement.
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x) Financial guarantees

 Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs 
because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee 
liabilities are recognised initially at their fair value, and the initial fair value is amortised over the life of the financial guarantee. 
The financial guarantee liability is subsequently carried at the higher of this amortised amount and the present value of any 
expected payment when a payment under the guarantee has become probable. 

y) Earnings per share

 The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing 
the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

z) Segment reporting

 An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components, whose operating 
results are reviewed regularly by the Management Committee of the Group to make decisions about resources allocated to the 
segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. Segment results that are reported 
to the Management Committee of the Group include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated 
on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets (primarily the Group’s Head Office), unallocated other 
assets, liabilities and expenses.

aa) Use of estimates and judgments

 The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Such estimates are necessarily 
based on assumptions about several factors involving varying degrees of judgment and uncertainty and actual results may 
therefore differ, resulting in future changes in these estimates.

 In particular, considerable management judgment is required in respect of the following issues:

 Impairment losses on loans and advances
 The Group reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment on a quarterly basis. In determining whether an impairment loss should 

be recorded in the income statement, the Group makes judgments as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there 
is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with 
an individual loan in that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change 
in the payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in 
the group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective 
evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions 
used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between 
loss estimates and actual loss experience. 
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aa) Use of estimates and judgments (continued)

 Held-to-maturity investments
 The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 in classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 

fixed maturity as held-to-maturity. This classification requires significant judgment. In making this judgment, the Group evaluates 
its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. If the Group fails to keep these investments to maturity other than 
for the specific circumstances – for example, selling an insignificant amount close to maturity – it will be required to reclassify 
the entire class as available-for-sale. The investments would therefore be measured at fair value and not amortized cost. 

 Impairment of available-for-sale investments
 The Group determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged 

decline in the fair value below its cost. This determination of what is significant or prolonged requires judgment. In making 
this judgment, the Group evaluates among other factors, the normal volatility in share price. In addition, impairment may be 
appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance, 
changes in technology or operational and financing cash flows. 

5. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

5.1 Risk Governance

 The Board of Directors (The “Board”) has the overall responsibility for the operations and the financials soundness of the Bank, 
and ensures that the interest of shareholders, depositors, creditors, employees and other stakeholders, including the banking 
regulators and supervisors, are met. The Board is also responsible for the overall framework of the risk governance, management, 
determining risk strategy, setting the Group’s risk limits and ensuring that risk exposure is monitored, controlled effectively and 
kept within set limits. Additionally, it is responsible for establishing a clearly defined risk management structure and for approval 
of the risk policies and procedures, infrastructure and management of all risks related to the Group. 

 In order to effectively discharge this responsibility the Board is assisted by three Board Committees and eight management 
committees. An illustration of how these committees report to the Group Board is shown below:

Board of Directors (“Board”)

Risk management committees

EXCO

MC BC ITSC ALCO CC CCO IC HRC

CEO REMCOARC 
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5.1 Risk Governance (continued)

 Board Committees

(a) Executive Committee (EXCO)
 EXCO acts as the Group’s senior executive management assuring that the Group meets its strategic and operational objectives. 

EXCO consists of four Board non-executive members, Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Deputy Chief Executive Officer 
(DCEO).

(b) Audit & Risk Committee (ARC)
 The ARC consists of five Board non-executive members and an independent member. The role of the ARC is to assist the Board 

of Directors in ensuring and maintaining oversight of the Bank’s financial reporting system, internal control and risk management 
processes, audit functions and legal and regulatory requirements by: 

• Overseeing the Group’s financial reporting processes, maintaining accounting policies, reviewing and approving the financial 
information;

• Monitoring the effectiveness and integrity of the Risk Management Framework and review reports on risk management;

• Evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness of the Bank’s procedures and systems for ensuring compliance with legal and 
regulatory requirements and internal policies;

• Managing the relationship with the Group’s external auditors; 

• Supervising external and internal auditors, ensuring the comprehensiveness of their scope of work, ensuring coordination between 
various external auditing bodies, reviewing the periodicity and scope of internal audit, and the approval of their working plans;

• Reviewing the notes mentioned in the reports of the Central Bank, Financial Audit Department of Government of Dubai, internal 
and external audit, and following up relevant measures taken to address weaknesses in control procedures, and non-compliance 
with laws & regulations, and ensure that management has instituted appropriate remedial measures;

• Submitting recommendations to the Board concerning the nomination, appointment, termination and remuneration of the external 
auditor and its election by the general assembly, ensuring that the external auditor fulfills the requirements of the supervisory 
bodies, and that nothing shall impair its independence;

• Ensuring the independence of the internal audit department necessary to carry out its duties;

• Reviewing reports on the internal controls and ensuring the sufficiency and efficiency of the internal control system to avoid 
any potential conflict of interest, which may arise from the Bank’s transactions or contracts or entering into projects with related 
parties, and to ensure that audit plans cover this. 

(c) Remuneration Committee (REMCO)
 The Remuneration Committee has been established to provide an efficient mechanism for reviewing the Bank’s compensation 

arrangement for its Management and Staff and making recommendations for the Board’s approval on these matters. The Chairman 
and the Members of the Committee are appointed by the Board from amongst its Directors. The REMCO comprises of three  
Board non-executive members; the Group’s Head of H.R. acts as a Secretary to the Committee. 
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5.1 Risk Governance (continued)

 Board Committees (continued)

(c) Remuneration Committee (REMCO) (continued)

 Its primary objectives and responsibilities that are independently undertaken and assumed on behalf of the Board, that may be 
amended time to time are as given below but not limited to:

• To ensure that compensation programs are fair in order to attract, retain and motivate its highly professional management and 
staff and in adherence to the short, medium and long-term objectives of the Bank bearing in mind the risk-taking and market 
conditions. Additionally, they must oversee the development of new compensation plans and approve the revision of existing 
plans, as and when required;

• To ensure that remuneration practices are compliant with all laws/rules that are applicable to the banks and that reporting and 
disclosures pertaining to the same are carried out in a timely manner as regulated by, but not limited to the laws of UAE Central 
Bank, Dubai Financial Market & Securities and Commodities Authority;

• To facilitate and expedite the implementation of any Board decision pertaining to remuneration;

• To recommend the remuneration and compensation of the senior management;

• Determine the bonus pool, overall increment pool for staff and prepare a compensation recommendation for presentation to the 
Board considering certain factors such as Bank’s performance and shareholder return, compensation in comparison to peers and 
rewards given in the past years;

• Recommend proposals for granting and when necessary, exercising Long Term Incentive Programs (LTIPs) and /or share option 
schemes, where applicable; and

• Review and approve overall HR policies and strategy. 

 Risk Management Committees

(a) Management Committee (MC)
 The scope of management committee includes all cross functional issues that are not covered in the scope of other committees. 

Typically, MC covers the areas like strategy, financial review, policies,  marketing, administration and processes. In addition, 
the MC is also responsible for management of Operational Risk with the support of the Risk Management Department who are 
responsible to liaise with all other units/divisions across the Group.

(b) Business Committee (BC)
 The purpose of BC is to support decisions on issues related to corporate and consumer banking, treasury and investments.
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

5.1 Risk Governance (continued)

 Risk Management Committees (continued)

(c) IT Steering Committee (ITSC)
 The ITSC provides strategic and tactical guidance for managing the Group’s overall technology systems in the long and short 

term, to ensure that Information Technology (IT) initiatives are consistent with the strategic business goals of the Group. The 
ITSC is charged with:

• Reviewing the Group’s IT development, strategic opportunities and plans;

• Providing guidance in the prioritization and implementation of technology initiatives and projects (including those related to 
infrastructure);

• Reviewing IT operations;

• Reviewing IT Security plans, policies and reports relating to the effectiveness of information security, their implementation and 
measures taken to address any residual risks; and

• Reviewing Business Continuity plans, policies and reports relating to the effectiveness of business continuity, their implementation 
and measures taken to address any residual risks.

(d) Asset and  Liability Committee (ALCO)
 The objective of ALCO is to derive the most appropriate strategy for the Group in terms of the mix of assets and liabilities given 

its expectations of the future and the potential consequences of interest rate movements, liquidity constraints, foreign exchange 
exposure and capital adequacy. The ALCO is also responsible to ensure that all strategies conform to the Group’s risk appetite 
and levels of exposure as determined by the Board of Directors. The roles of ALCO include the following:

➢ Develop an effective asset and liability management process and related procedures to oversee and monitor the Group’s 
approved policies and procedures in relation to the management and control of the following risks:

– Liquidity risk – being the risk of the Group’s inability to meet obligations when they become due without incurring 
unacceptable losses because of an inability to liquidate assets or to obtain adequate funding;

– Market risk – being the following risks:
• The risk to earnings from adverse movements in interest rates, exchange rates and market volatility; and
• The risk from changes in the value of portfolio of financial instruments.

– Statement of financial position risk - being the following risks:
• The risk to earnings from changes in interest rates and market volatility in retail and wholesale rates;
• The risk to value and capital from changes in the value of assets and liabilities as a result of changes in interest rates 

and market volatility;
• The risk from material changes in global and domestic economic conditions generally; and
• Consider deposit and loan products and their impact on the statement of financial position. In particular, consider the 

pricing and maturity distributions of deposits, loans and investments.

➢ Oversee the installation and maintenance of an information system that supplies, on a timely basis, the information and data 
necessary for the ALCO to fulfill its roles and responsibilities.
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

5.1 Risk Governance (continued)

 Risk Management Committees (continued)

(e) Credit Committee (CC)
 CC manages the credit risk of the Group by continuous review of credit limits, policies and procedures, the approval of specific 

exposures and work out proposals, constant revaluation of the loans portfolio and the sufficiency of provisions thereof. 

(f) Compliance Committee (CCO)
 The Compliance Committee primarily ensures the prevention of Money Laundering and combats terrorism financing in adherence 

and compliance to the relevant regulations set by regulatory authorities, applicable to the Bank by overseeing and monitoring 
the implementation of the policies and procedures related to compliance and AML. It consists of five executive members whose 
duties include but are not limited to:

a. Assessing and approving reports prepared by Head of Compliance and AML regarding suspicious transactions in staff & 
customer accounts/credit cards & internal and external fraud cases and subsequently taking appropriate corrective action 
through investigation, police and court action wherever necessary;

b. Reviewing the increased risk customers, like non-residents, free-zones, politically exposed persons (PEPs), and others as 
defined by our “Know Your Customer (KYC) and Anti-money Laundering (AML) Policies & Procedures”, and give the 
suitable decision.

(g) Investment Committee (IC)
 The Investment committee and sub-committee are responsible for overseeing and managing the Bank’s own proprietary 

investments, in both fixed income and equity securities, in accordance with the investment policy and guidelines.
 
 The committee’s key responsibilities are:

a. Approving and amending the policies and guidelines;  
b. Reviewing and approving Investment Group/Treasury’s proposed investment recommendations; 
c. Reviewing and evaluating performance of portfolios against benchmarks; and 
d. Reviewing the portfolio’s continued compliance with regulatory guidelines. 

(h) Human Resources Committee (HRC)
 The purpose of the HR Committee is to set strategy and policy in the following areas:

• Organization development in terms of structure, professional ethics, annual business strategy, business focused succession 
planning.

• Staffing in terms of Emiratisation, optimal headcount/manpower distribution, review sourcing process, policies & strategies, 
review the approved agencies.

• Training and Development which ensures the timely conduct of training, approve specialized development programs, review 
financial budget for training & development and ensure it has been used extensively for this purpose. 

• Performance Management ensures performance driven work culture, develop managers’ competence and ensure managers 
agree on the KPI’s and performance reviews.

• Compensation & Reward Management supporting the Remuneration Committee, ensure jobs are graded based on the Job 
Evaluation System, ensure incentive scheme, revision of salary structure, changes in the allowances, benefits & facilities and 
other rewards reaches employees.

• Employee Services includes ensuring that employee grievances are timely resolved, effective implementation of Staff 
Suggestion scheme, Employee Satisfaction Survey and outstanding performance awards.
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

5.2 Control Environment

(a) Group Risk Department 

Group Risk Department comprises credit, market, operational and IT risks. Its role includes the following:
• develop a strategy, policy and framework for risk management such that these are aligned with business requirements;
• provide support to the Group in implementation of the framework;
• bring together analysis of risk concentrations and sensitivities across the Group;
• act as a point of reference for risk and control matters, providing advice to management, sharing best practices and carrying 

out special reviews as directed by ALCO; and
• provide independent assessment of, and challenge to the business areas’ risk management and profiles to ensure that they are 

maintained in a robust manner.

(b) Internal audit

 The role of the Internal Audit Department within the Group is to provide independent and objective assurance that the process 
for identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks faced by the Group is appropriate and effectively applied. In addition, 
it also provides an independent check on the compliance with laws and regulations and measuring compliance with the Group’s 
policies and procedures.  Additionally, Internal Audit provides consulting services which are advisory in nature, and are generally 
performed at the specific request of the Audit & Risk Committee or Senior Management.

 It is led by the Head of Internal Audit who reports to the Audit & Risk Committee of the Board of Directors, with administrative 
reporting to the Chief Executive Officer.

 To perform its role effectively, Internal Audit has organizational independence from management, to enable unrestricted 
evaluation of management activities and personnel. 

(c) Internal control

 Board of Director’s and Executive Management are responsible for developing and maintaining the existence of a sound Internal 
Control System and procedures that meet international standards and fulfilling the requirements of the Group’s Management and 
External Regulatory Bodies and are capable of ensuring the achievement of the following : 
• Accuracy and integrity of financial and operational statements issued by the Bank;
• Effectiveness and efficiency of the Bank’s operational activities;
• Effectiveness of measures and procedures set to safeguard the Bank’s assets and properties; and
• Compatibility with policies pertinent to internal operational procedures as well as laws, legislations and regulations in force.

 Management works constantly on monitoring and assessing the efficiency and effectiveness of internal control procedures and 
their ability to achieve aspired objectives and their furtherance and enhancement.

 The Internal Control Department reports to the General Manager of Administration and Finance. The functions and responsibilities 
of the Internal Control Department include but not limited to:
• Ensuring that the Group’s operational policies, processes and controls are adhered to;
• Ensuring that proper internal controls are in place and that they are functioning as designed in a timely and effective manner;
• Periodic review of the Group’s internal control system in order to identify areas where internal controls may be weak, not 

present and areas where there appear to be excessive controls resulting in operational inefficiency so as to suggest ways to 
rectify the same;
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

5.2 Control Environment (continued)

(c) Internal control (continued)

• Enable the management to conduct an annual review of the efficiency of the internal control system and report its findings; 
and

• Follow up of the operational activities from a preventive and detective angle and oversee operational controls being exercised 
to ensure that these are timely and effective.

(d) Compliance 

 The process of monitoring compliance is considered an independent task which aims at ensuring that the Bank and its internal 
policies are in compliance with all the laws, regulations, instructions, directives, codes of conduct and sound banking standards 
and practices issued by regulators.

 The Board of Directors’ takes the necessary measures to further the values of integrity and sound professional conduct within the 
Bank that is in compliance with the applied laws, regulations, instructions and standards that constitute a primary goal that must 
be achieved. 

 The overall mission and role of compliance is to:
• ensure compliance risks are adequately identified, assessed, monitored and controlled in conjunction with Business and other 

control functions;
• ensure senior management is fully informed of significant compliance issues and plans for resolution;
• contribute to a “no surprise” compliance culture by educating and communicating compliance awareness throughout the 

Group;
• align annual compliance plans with business strategies and goals; and
• meet regulatory expectations.

(e) Whistle Blowing

 A set of arrangements has been designed to enable employees to confidentially report concerns about any potential violations, 
enabling the investigation and follow up of such concerns independently and discreetly through the whistle blowing policy. Such 
arrangements are supervised by the Audit & Risk Committee and in coordination with the Senior Executive Management.

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

a)  Introduction and overview

 The Group has exposure to the following primary risks from its use of financial instruments:
• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk
• Operational risk

 Risk is inherent to the Group’s business and activities. The Group’s ability to identify, assess, monitor and manage each type of 
risk to which the Group is exposed is an important factor in its financial stability, performance and reputation.



50 Commercial Bank of Dubai

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) For the year ended 31 December 2010

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

a)  Introduction and overview (continued)

 The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly 
to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered. The Group, through its training and management standards 
and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment, in which all employees understand their roles 
and obligations.

 The Group Audit & Risk Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and 
procedures, and for reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The 
Group Audit & Risk Committee is assisted in these functions by Internal Audit, which undertakes both regular and ad-hoc reviews 
of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Group Audit & Risk Committee.

 This note presents information relating to the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital.

b) Credit risk 

 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations arising principally from the Group’s loans and advances, Islamic financing, amounts due from banks 
and investment in debt securities. For reporting purpose credit risk on Islamic financing is reported as component of credit risk 
on loans and advances. For risk management purposes, credit risk arising on trading investments is managed independently, but 
reported as a component of market risk exposure. 

 Management of credit risk
 The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the management of certain levels of credit risk to the Group Credit 

Committee (CC), which is responsible for oversight of the Group’s credit risk including:

• Formulating credit policies in consultation with business units, covering collateral requirements, credit assessment, risk 
grading and reporting, documentary and legal procedures and compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements;

• Establishment of an authorization structure and limits for the approval and renewal of credit facilities. Lending authorities 
have been established at various levels together with a framework of dual/multiple credit approval delegated authorities. 
Larger facilities require approval by the Group Credit Committee (CC) and / or the Board of Directors, as appropriate;

• Establishing limits - actual levels of exposure are regularly reviewed at Group Credit Committee (CC) or Board level, as 
appropriate;

• Limiting concentrations of exposure to industry sectors, geographic locations and counterparties;
• Developing and maintaining the Group’s risk grading in each category of exposures according to the degree of risk of financial 

loss faced and to ensure focus of management on the attendant risks. The risk grading system is used in determining whether 
impairment provisions may be required against specific credit exposures. The current risk grading framework consists of 
fourteen grades reflecting varying degrees of risk of default and the availability of collateral or other credit risk mitigation. 
The responsibility for setting risk grades lies with the Executive Committee (EXCO) and is subject to regular reviews by the 
Risk Management Department;

• Designing credit review procedures so as to identify, at an early stage, exposures which require more detailed monitoring and 
review; and

 Reviewing compliance, on an ongoing basis, with agreed exposure limits relating to counterparties, industries and countries and 
reviewing limits in accordance with risk management strategy and market trends. 
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

b) Credit risk (continued)

 Exposure to credit risk
 The Group measures its exposure to credit risk by reference to gross carrying amount of financial assets less interest suspended 

and impairment losses, if any.
                                                                               Loans and advances             Due from banks                Debt securities
                                                                              and Islamic financing
 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Carrying amount 27,164,988 28,376,823 2,297,520 1,159,071 1,395,975 1,464,799
===========================================================================================================
Neither past due nor impaired 
Grades 1: best standard asset 1,798,032 2,533,321 2,297,520 1,159,071 1,395,975 1,464,799
Grade 2-9: less than best grade standard asset 21,448,367 24,551,082 - - - -
Grade 10: worst grade standard asset / watch-list
   loans 1,793,372 754,791 - - - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Carrying amount 25,039,771 27,839,194 2,297,520 1,159,071 1,395,975 1,464,799
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Past due but not impaired In Grade 1 to 10
Less than 30 days 229,133 59,103 - - - -
30 – 60 days 95,304 44,838 - - - -
60 – 90 days 391,634 65,250 - - - -
Over 90 days 1,027,129 338,984 - - - 
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Carrying amount 1,743,200 508,175 - - - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Collective provision for impairment (424,566) (329,024) - - - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Carrying amount net of collective impairment 26,358,405 28,018,345 2,297,520 1,159,071 1,395,975 1,464,799
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Individually impaired and restructured 
   loans (grade 10) 220,296 - - - - -
Specific provision for impairment (39,000) - - - - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Carrying amount 181,296 - - - - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Individually impaired     - 
Grade 11: Substandard (a) 16 8,531 - - - -
Grade 12: Substandard (b) 912,528 537,754 - - - -
Grade 13: Doubtful 205,448 33,401 - - - -
Grade 14: Loss 40,709 33,654 - - - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Gross amount 1,158,701 613,340 - - - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Interest suspended (126,824) (85,095) - - - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Specific provision for impairment (505,067) (235,695) -   -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Carrying amount 526,810 292,550 - - - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Collectively impaired 
Grade 11: Substandard (a) 193 248 - - - -
Grade 12:Substandard (b) 247,788 121,158 - - - -
Grade 13: Doubtful 9,132 22,630 - - - -
Grade  14: Loss 1,409 9,588 - - - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Gross amount 258,522 153,624 - - - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Interest suspended (31,388) (31,583) - - - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Collective provision for impairment (128,657) (56,113) - - - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Carrying amount 98,477 65,928 - - - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total carrying amount 27,164,988 28,376,823 2,297,520 1,159,071 1,395,975 1,464,799
===========================================================================================================
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b) Credit risk (continued)

 Impaired loans and advances, Islamic financing and investment in debt securities

 Individually impaired loans and advances, Islamic financing and investment debt securities are financial assets for which the 
Group determines that there is objective evidence of impairment and it is probable that it will be unable to collect all principal 
and interest due according to the contractual terms of the agreements.

 The Group’s current Credit Risk Rating Methodology comprises 14 grades as set out below. Grades 1 to 9 reflect performing 
accounts, grade 10 reflects irregular accounts and grades 11 to 14 reflect defaulted / non-performing accounts.

 New grades Old grades Risk significance
 1 Grade 1a Best grade standard asset
 2-5 Grade 1b Less than best grade standard asset
 6-9 Grade 1c Less than best grade standard asset to better than the worst case
 10 Grade 2 Worst grade standard asset / watch-list loans
 11 Grade 3a Substandard “a”- Interest Suspended
   (Payment of Principal or Interest is in arrears beyond 3 months)
 12 Grade 3b Substandard “b”- Provision Starts
   (Payment of Principal or Interest is in arrears beyond 3 months)
 13 Grade 4 Doubtful of recovery
 14 Grade 5 Loss (fully provided for, and written off)

 The Group Credit Risk Rating Methodology, which has been internally developed based on actual historical data, is in line with 
the requirements setout in the Basel II Accord and has a 14- grades frame-work, whereby:
• The first 10 grades are assigned to non-defaulting borrowers; and
• The last 4 grades are for defaulting borrowers. 

 The methodology provides a multi-dimensional approach to the Group’s Credit Risk Rating, where credit is assessed and rated 
on 2 dimensions, as follows:
- 1st Dimension: which assesses / rates the borrower’s probability of Default (PD); and
- 2nd Dimension: which assesses / rates the facility and the Loss-Given Default (LGD).

 Both dimensions create a Credit-Risk Rating Grid/Matrix which plays a key role in pricing, approval, and credit monitoring. In 
order to achieve this, the Group has started pricing facilities using Risk Adjusted Return on Capital (RAROC), which leads to the 
Basel II compliance.

 Past due but not impaired loans
 These are the loans where contractual interest or principal payments are past due, but the Group believes that impairment is not 

appropriate on the basis of the level of security/collateral available and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed to the Group.

 Loans with renegotiated terms
 Restructuring activity is designed to manage customer relationships, maximize collection opportunities and avoid foreclosure or 

repossession, if possible. Following restructuring, an overdue account will normally be reset from delinquent to current status. 
Restructuring is done based  on indications or criteria which, in the opinion of management, evidence the probability that payment 
will continue. Management continuously monitors the progress on  renegotiated loans to ensure compliance with the terms at 
all times. Such loans are subject to individual or collective impairment assessment on regular basis. At 31 December 2010 
renegotiated loans amount to AED 808 million (2009: AED 691 million).
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b) Credit risk (continued)

 Allowances for impairment
 The Group establishes an allowance for impairment losses that represents its estimate of incurred losses in its loan portfolio. The 

main components of this allowance are specific loss component that relate to individually significant exposures, and a collective 
loan loss allowance established for groups of homogeneous assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but have not been 
identified on loans subject to individual assessment for impairment. Assets carried at fair value through profit or loss is not subject 
to impairment testing as the measure of fair value reflects the credit quality of each asset. 

 The Group monitors concentrations of its impaired loans by sector and by geographic location. An analysis of concentrations of 
impaired loans by sector is shown below:

31 December 2010    Specific
                                                                                                  OVERDUE  provision
    and
 Less than 90 Days &  interest in
 90 Days above Total suspense Collaterals
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Commercial and Business: 
Agriculture & allied activities - 417 417 131 -
Mining & quarrying - - - - -
Manufacturing 48 23,174 23,222 26,076 -
Construction 2,281 - 2,281 1,781 2,281
Trade 48,545 584,018 632,563 315,816 330,949
Transport & communication 1,806 18,976 20,782 16,412 1,281
Services 27,157 286,516 313,673 157,150 130,398
Business and investment 803 97,890 98,693 65,285 56,032

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total commercial and Business 80,640 1,010,991 1,091,631 582,651 520,941

Banks and financial institutions - 113 113 39,039 -
Government and public sector entities - - - - -
Personal-schematic  5,508 316,781 322,289 186,410 163,607
Others 576 2,614 3,190 22,836 161

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total carrying amount 86,724 1,330,499 1,417,223 830,936 684,709

===========================================================================================================

 In addition to the specific provision, the Group holds AED 424.6 million as collective provisions. 
 All impaired loans are located in one geographic area, the United Arab Emirates.
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b) Credit risk (continued)

31 December 2009    Specific
                                                                                                  OVERDUE  provision
    and
 Less than 90 Days &  interest in
 90 Days above Total suspense Collaterals
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Commercial and Business:      
Agriculture & allied activities - - - - -
Mining & quarrying - 1,057 1,057 526 424
Manufacturing 2,866 17,023 19,889 19,889 -
Construction 100,512 132,186 232,698 55,138 141,656
Trade 60,429 122,117 182,546 130,058 41,874
Transport & communication 2,247 6,394 8,641 7,150 1,190
Services 54,874 25,002 79,876 32,219 38,020
Business and investment 24,355 61,251 85,606 73,053 11,333

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total commercial and Business 245,283 365,030 610,313 318,033 234,497

Banks and financial institutions - - - - -
Government and public sector entities - - - - -
Personal-schematic  93,614 60,010 153,624 87,696 51,278
Others 2,339 688 3,027 2,757 215

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total carrying amount 341,236 425,728 766,964 408,486 285,990

===========================================================================================================

 In addition to the specific provision, the Group holds AED 329 million as collective provisions. 
 All impaired loans are located in one geographic area, the United Arab Emirates. 

 Write - off policy
 The Group writes off a loan / investment in debt security (and any related allowances for impairment) when the Group Credit 

Committee determines that the loan / security is uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering information such 
as the significant deterioration in the borrower’s/issuer’s financial position such that the borrower / issuer can no longer pay the 
obligation, or proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure or all possible efforts of collecting 
the amounts have been exhausted. 

 For smaller balances of standardized loans, write off decisions are generally based on a product-specific past due status.
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b) Credit risk (continued)

 Write - off policy (continued)
 Set out below is an analysis of the gross and net (of provisions for impairment) amounts of individually impaired assets by risk 

grade;

                                                                    Loans and advances               
                                                                   and Islamic financing              Due from banks                   Debt securities
                                                                     Gross              Net               Gross              Net               Gross              Net
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

31 December 2010 
Grades 11&12: Substandard (a & b) 912,544 526,810 - - - -
Grade 13: Doubtful 205,448 - - - - -
Grade 14: Loss 40,709 - - - - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total  1,158,701 526,810 - - - -
===========================================================================================================

31 December 2009       
Grades 11&12: Substandard (a & b) 546,285 292,550 - - - -
Grade 13:Doubtful 33,401 - - - - -
Grade 14: Loss 33,654 - - - - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total  613,340 292,550 - - - -
===========================================================================================================

 Collaterals
 The Group holds collateral against loans and advances in the form of cash, guarantees, mortgages and liens over properties or 

other securities over assets. Estimates of fair value are based on the value of collateral assessed at the time of borrowing, and are 
subsequently monitored on a periodic basis. Generally, collateral is not held against debt securities and amounts due from banks, 
and no such collateral was held at 31 December 2010 or 2009. 

 Concentration
 Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities or activities in same geographic 

region or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by 
changes in economic, political or other conditions. The tables below set out the concentration of credit risk by sector, geography 
and currency.
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b) Credit risk (continued)

 Concentration of credit risk by sector for 2010

     Cash,
 Loans and    balances   Contingent
 advances    with Central Total on  liabilities
 and Islamic Due from Debt Equity bank and balance Undrawn and
 financing banks securities Securities other assets sheet commitments acceptances
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED,000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Commercial and Business:
Agriculture & allied activities 30,510 - - - - 30,510 5,378 41,838
Mining & quarrying 252,366 - - - - 252,366 191,574 29,782
Manufacturing 1,350,244 - - - - 1,350,244 381,046 455,278
Construction 4,689,067 - 19,742 221 - 4,709,030 491,376 62,346
Trade 7,857,814 - - - - 7,857,814 2,340,594 3,212,955
Transport & communication 492,901 - - 8,099 - 501,000 112,700 258,839
Services 3,665,329 - - 90 - 3,665,419 1,623,457 4,254,465
Business and investment 6,198,973 - - - - 6,198,973 1,241,057 379,812
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total commercial and Business 24,537,204 - 19,742 8,410 - 24,565,356 6,387,182 8,695,315

Banks and financial institutions 560,887 2,297,520 390,913 304,498 - 3,553,818 138,142 700,108
Government and public sector entities 668,429 - 985,320 - 4,723,459 6,377,208 125,417 87
Personal-schematic  2,258,558 - - - - 2,258,558 486,846 18,209
Others 395,412 - - - 1,515,442 1,910,854 25,159 77,254
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total carrying amount 28,420,490 2,297,520 1,395,975 312,908 6,238,901 38,665,794 7,162,746 9,490,973
===========================================================================================================

 Total securities held against loans and advances and Islamic financing are AED 15,294 million, of which AED 9,909 million are 
legal mortgages.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

b) Credit risk (continued)

 Concentration of credit risk by sector for 2009

     Cash,
 Loans and    balances   Contingent
 advances    with Central Total on  liabilities
 and Islamic Due from Debt Equity bank and balance Undrawn and
 financing banks securities Securities other assets sheet commitments acceptances
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED,000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Commercial and Business:
Agriculture & allied activities 25,534 - - - - 25,534 7,305 56,973
Mining & quarrying 335,519 - - - - 335,519 153,362 118,878
Manufacturing 1,631,551 - - - - 1,631,551 456,177 510,540
Construction 3,842,416 - 57,161 1,904 - 3,901,481 916,683 -
Trade 8,177,457 - - - - 8,177,457 2,841,153 2,949,692
Transport & communication 493,674 - - 15,720 - 509,394 144,237 915,519
Services 2,956,473 - - 113 - 2,956,586 1,866,239 3,535,901
Business and investment 6,231,736 - - - - 6,231,736 1,637,583 700,999
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total commercial and Business 23,694,360 - 57,161 17,737 - 23,769,258 8,022,739 8,788,502

Banks and financial institutions 688,502 1,159,071 314,407 414,039 - 2,576,019 140,460 1,024,937
Government and public sector entities 1,782,814 - 1,093,231 - 3,165,190 6,041,235 119,866 917,869
Personal-schematic  2,422,263 - - - - 2,422,263 683,182 15,772
Others 526,394 - - - 1,404,674 1,931,068 7,446 15,832
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total carrying amount 29,114,333 1,159,071 1,464,799 431,776 4,569,864 36,739,843 8,973,693 10,762,912
===========================================================================================================

 Total securities held against loans and advances and Islamic financing are AED 16,305 million, of which AED 10,527 million are 
legal mortgages.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

b) Credit risk (continued)

 Concentration of credit risk by geographic location:

31 December 2010  
     Cash,
 Loans and    balances   Contingent
 advances    with Central Total on  liabilities
 and Islamic Due from Debt Equity bank and balance Undrawn and
 financing banks securities Securities other assets sheet commitments acceptances
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED,000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

UAE 28,186,354 1,629,772 1,290,011 244,018 6,238,901 37,589,056 7,121,119 8,903,502
GCC 234,136 281,081 64,645 67,682 - 647,544 41,627 6,998
Other Arab Countries - 671 - - - 671 - 10,923
Europe - 347,229 40,495 - - 387,724 - 389,043
USA - 34,860 - 1,208 - 36,068 - 30,883
Asia - 2,083 824 - - 2,907 - 148,606
Others  - 1,824 - - - 1,824 - 1,018
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total carrying amount 28,420,490 2,297,520 1,395,975 312,908 6,238,901 38,665,794 7,162,746 9,490,973
===========================================================================================================

31 December 2009  
     Cash,
 Loans and    balances   Contingent
 advances    with Central Total on  liabilities
 and Islamic Due from Debt Equity bank and balance Undrawn and
 financing banks securities Securities other assets sheet commitments acceptances
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED,000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

UAE 28,581,678 1,062,349 1,344,319 344,139 4,569,864 35,902,349 8,932,066 10,035,622
GCC 503,881 9,719 57,299 87,637 - 658,536 41,627 21,799
Other Arab Countries - 1,046 - - - 1,046 - 14,708
Europe - 26,786 43,249 - - 70,035 - 486,479
USA - 53,266 - - - 53,266 - 8,181
Asia 28,774 4,419 19,932 - - 53,125 - 185,592
Others  - 1,486 - - - 1,486 - 10,531
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total carrying amount 29,114,333 1,159,071 1,464,799 431,776 4,569,864 36,739,843 8,973,693 10,762,912
===========================================================================================================
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

b) Credit risk (continued)

 Concentration of credit risk by currency:

31 December 2010  
     Cash,
 Loans and    balances   Contingent
 advances    with Central Total on  liabilities
 and Islamic Due from Debt Equity bank and balance Undrawn and
 financing banks securities Securities other assets sheet commitments acceptances
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED,000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

AED 26,637,287 18 966,276 221,880 6,050,769 33,876,230 7,121,119 8,900,459
Other currencies 1,783,203 2,297,502 429,699 91,028 188,132 4,789,564 41,627 590,514
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total carrying amount 28,420,490 2,297,520 1,395,975 312,908 6,238,901 38,665,794 7,162,746 9,490,973
===========================================================================================================

31 December 2009  
     Cash,
 Loans and    balances   Contingent
 advances    with Central Total on  liabilities
 and Islamic Due from Debt Equity bank and balance Undrawn and
 financing banks securities Securities other assets sheet commitments acceptances
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED,000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

AED 26,540,381 251,263 1,078,774 119,303 4,563,480 32,553,201 8,932,066 7,824,091
Other currencies 2,573,952 907,808 386,025 312,473 6,384 4,186,642 41,627 2,938,821
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total carrying amount 29,114,333 1,159,071 1,464,799 431,776 4,569,864 36,739,843 8,973,693 10,762,912
===========================================================================================================
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

c) Settlement risk

 The Group’s activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions and trades. Settlement risk is the risk of loss 
due to the failure of counterparty to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other assets as contractually due.  Any 
delays in settlement are rare and are monitored and quantified as part of the Group’s ICAAP framework and Operational Risk 
Management.

 
 For certain types of transactions, the Group mitigates this risk by conducting settlements through a settlement / clearing agent to 

ensure that a trade is settled only when both parties have fulfilled their contractual settlement obligations. Settlement limits form 
part of the credit approval / limit monitoring process described above. Acceptance of settlement risk on free settlement trades 
requires transaction specific or counterparty specific approvals from the Group Risk Management Department.

d) Liquidity risk
 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with financial liabilities that 

are settled by delivering cash or other financial assets. It includes the risk of the inability to fund assets at appropriate maturities 
and rates and the inability to liquidate assets at reasonable prices and in an appropriate timeframe and inability to meet obligations 
as they become due. Liquidity risk can be caused by market disruptions or credit downgrades which may cause certain sources 
of funding to diminish.  

 Management of liquidity risk
 Liquidity risk is managed by the Treasury and ALM department in line with the regulatory, internal policies and guidelines. The 

Group’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it has adequate funding from diversified sources at all times to meet 
its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring un acceptable losses or risking damage of 
the Group’s reputation.

 Funds are raised using a broad range of instruments including customers’ deposits, medium term borrowings, money market 
instruments, subordinated debts and capital.  The treasury and ALM department monitor the liquidity profile of financial assets 
and liabilities and the projected cash flows arising from existing and future business. Treasury maintains a portfolio of short-
term liquid assets and inter-bank placements to ensure that sufficient liquidity is maintained. The daily liquidity position is 
monitored and regular liquidity stress testing is conducted under a variety of scenarios covering both normal and abnormal market 
conditions. 

 The Group’s liquidity policy is set by the Board of Directors and is subject to annual review. Adherence to the policies is 
monitored by the Risk Management Department and the ALCO.

 The Group’s liquidity management process, as carried out within the Group and monitored by Group’s treasury, includes:

• Day to day funding managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be met - these include 
replenishment of funds as they mature or are borrowed by customers. The Group maintains  an active presence in global 
money market to enable this to happen; 

• Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against any unforeseen 
interruption  to cash flow; 

• Managing balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory requirements; and

• Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.



61Annual Report 2010

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) For the year ended 31 December 2010

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

d) Liquidity risk (continued)

 Exposure to liquidity risk

 The key measure used by the Group for measuring liquidity risk is the advances to stable resources ratio (regulatory ratio) 
which stands at 83.9% (2009: 92%). In addition, the Group also uses the following ratios/information on a continuous basis for 
measuring liquidity risk:

• Liquid assets to total assets ratio;
• Net loans to deposits ratio (LDR);
• Third party liabilities maturing within one month to third party liabilities;
• Customers’ deposits maturing within one month to customers’ deposits; and
• Deposits’ concentration

 The following table summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities based on the contractual repayment 
arrangements. These do not take account of the effective maturities as indicated by the Group’s deposit retention history. The 
contractual maturities of assets and liabilities have been determined on the basis of the remaining period at the reporting date to 
the contractual maturity date. 

 The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities at 31 December 2010 was as follows:

    From From
  Less than From 1 to  3 months 1 to 5 Over
 Total 1 month 3 months to 1 year years 5 years
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank  5,076,443 5,076,443 - - - -
Due from banks 2,297,520 2,297,520 - - - -
Loans and advances and Islamic financing 27,164,988 8,158,341 1,251,348 1,882,150 9,765,943 6,107,206
Investment securities 1,708,883 312,908 - 18,181 1,182,703 195,091
Property and equipment 616,475 28 246 4,597 208,985 402,619
Other assets 1,646,939 730,690 337,378 578,446 425 -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total assets 38,511,248 16,575,930 1,588,972 2,483,374 11,158,056 6,704,916
===========================================================================================================

Liabilities and equity
Due to banks 309,273 309,273 - - - -
Customers’ deposits and Islamic 
customers’ deposits 29,209,662 18,309,384 4,146,922 4,887,193 24,610 1,841,553
Medium term borrowing 1,469,200 - - 1,469,200 - -
Other liabilities  1,644,172 727,923 337,378 578,446 425 -
Equity 5,878,941 - 395,257 - - 5,483,684
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total liabilities and equity 38,511,248 19,346,580 4,879,557 6,934,839 25,035 7,325,237
===========================================================================================================
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

d) Liquidity risk (continued)

 The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities at 31 December 2009 was as follows:

    From From
  Less than From 1 to  3 months 1 to 5 Over
 Total 1 month 3 months to 1 year years 5 years
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank  3,651,928 3,651,928 - - - -
Due from banks 1,159,071 1,159,071 - - - -
Loans and advances and Islamic financing 28,376,823 7,808,724 1,661,001 2,438,376 10,044,706 6,424,016
Investment securities 1,896,575 431,776 - 148,993 1,150,672 165,134
Property and equipment 576,883 881 310 5,999 97,404 472,289
Other assets 1,121,772 605,014 273,344 243,414 - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total assets 36,783,052 13,657,394 1,934,655 2,836,782 11,292,782 7,061,439
===========================================================================================================

Liabilities and equity
Due to banks 766,568 561,920 57,648 147,000 - -
Customers’ deposits and Islamic 
customers’ deposits 27,928,454 16,889,770 4,457,059 4,675,326 49,261 1,857,038
Medium term borrowing 1,469,200 - - - 1,469,200 -
Other liabilities  1,268,870 752,112 273,344 243,414 - -
Equity 5,349,960 - 270,721 - - 5,079,239
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total liabilities and equity 36,783,052 18,203,802 5,058,772 5,065,740 1,518,461 6,936,277
===========================================================================================================

 The tables above show undiscounted cash flows on the Group’s financial assets and liabilities on the basis of their earliest possible 
contractual maturity. The Group’s expected cash flows may vary significantly from this analysis. 
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

d) Liquidity risk (continued)

 The table below shows the maturity of the Group’s contingent liabilities and credit commitments:

    From From
  Less than From 1 to  3 months 1 to 5 Over
 Total 1 month 3 months to 1 year years 5 years
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
31 December 2010
Contingent liabilities 8,390,017 844,403 1,219,826 2,455,811 3,298,588 571,389
Credit commitments 7,162,746 393,951 787,902 1,181,853 4,799,040 -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total 15,552,763 1,238,354 2,007,728 3,637,664 8,097,628 571,389
===========================================================================================================

31 December 2009
Contingent liabilities 9,982,193 1,657,289 1,444,612 3,034,677 2,747,311 1,098,304
Credit commitments 8,973,693 493,553 987,106 1,480,659 6,012,375 -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total 18,955,886 2,150,842 2,431,718 4,515,336 8,759,686 1,098,304
===========================================================================================================

e) Market risks

 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, equity prices, foreign exchange rates and credit spreads, 
will affect the Group’s income and / or value of a financial instrument.  The Group manages its market risk in order to achieve 
optimum returns while maintaining market risk exposures within prudent limits.

 Management of market risks
 The Board of Directors has set risk limits based on sensitivity analyses and notional limits which are closely monitored by the 

Middle Office (Group Risk Management), reported daily to Senior Management and discussed monthly by the ALCO.

 The Group separates its exposure to market risk between trading and non-trading portfolios with overall responsibility vested in 
the ALCO. The Group Risk Management Department is responsible for the development of detailed risk management policies 
and for the day-to-day review of their implementation, subject to review and approval by the ALCO.

 Exposure to market risks – trading portfolios
 The principal tools used to measure and control market risk exposure within the Group’s trading portfolios are Value at Risk 

(VaR). The VaR of a trading portfolio is the estimated loss that will arise on the portfolio over a specified period of time (holding 
period) from an adverse market movement with a specified probability (confidence level). The VaR model used by the Group is 
based upon a 99 percent confidence level and assumes a 10-day holding period. The VaR model used is based on historical and 
Monte Carlo simulation taking into account market data for the last 250 business days.

 Although VaR is an important tool for measuring market risk, the assumptions on which the model is based do give rise to some 
limitations, including the following:
• A 10-day holding period assumes that it is possible to hedge or dispose of positions within that period. This is considered to 

be a realistic assumption in almost all cases but may not be the case in situations in which there is severe market illiquidity 
for a prolonged period. 
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e) Market risks (continued)

 Exposure to market risks – trading portfolios (continued)

• A 99 percent confidence level does not reflect losses that may occur beyond this level. Even with the model used there is a 
one per cent probability that losses could exceed the VaR.

• VaR is calculated on an end-of-day basis and does not reflect exposures that may arise on positions during the trading day, 
although real time limit monitoring mitigates this risk somewhat.

• The use of historical data as a basis for determining the possible range of future outcomes may not always cover all possible 
scenarios, especially those of an exceptional nature.

• The VaR measure is dependent upon the Group’s position and the volatility of market prices. The VaR of an unchanged 
position reduces if the market price volatility declines and vice versa.

 The Group uses VaR limits for specific foreign exchange, interest rate and equity price risks. The overall structure of VaR limits 
is subject to review and approval by the ALCO. VaR limits are allocated only to the trading portfolio. VaR is measured at least 
daily for more actively traded portfolios. Daily reports of utilization of VaR limits are produced by the Group Risk Management 
department and periodic summaries are submitted to the ALCO.

 The limitations of the VaR methodology are recognized by supplementing VaR limits with other position and sensitivity limit 
structures, including limits to address potential concentration risks within each trading portfolio. In addition, the Group uses 
stress tests to model the financial impact of exceptional market scenarios on individual trading portfolios and the Group’s overall 
position.

 Exposure to interest rate risk – non trading portfolio
 Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing financial instruments and reflects the possibility that changes in interest rates will 

adversely affect the value of the financial instruments and the related income. The Group manages the risk principally through 
monitoring interest rate gaps, matching the re-pricing profile of assets and liabilities and by having pre-approved limits for 
repricing bands. The ALCO monitors compliance with these limits and is assisted by the Group Risk Management Department 
for the day-to-day monitoring of activities.

 In addition the Group also assesses the impact of defined movement in interest yield curves on its net interest income and 
regulatory capital. The following is the impact of interest rate movement on  net interest income and regulatory capital:

                                                                  2010                                    2009
                                                      Net interest Income                           Net interest Income
    50 b.p.  100 b.p.     50 b.p. 100 b.p.
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Upward Shift 39,531 79,062 15,247 30,495
Downward Shift (30,727) (61,454) 15,805 31,610

                                                                  2010                                    2009
                                                       Regulatory capital                              Regulatory capital
    50 b.p.    100 b.p.     50 b.p.   100 b.p.
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Upward Shift (7,644) (15,289) (8,464) (16,928)
Downward Shift 7,644 15,289 8,464 16,928 
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e) Market risks (continued)

 A summary of the Group’s interest rate sensitivity position based on contractual re-pricing arrangements or maturity dates, 
whichever dates are earlier is as follows:

31 December 2010 Non   From 
 interest Less than From 3 to  6 months Over 1 
 bearing 3 months 6 months to 1 year years Total
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank  2,076,443 3,000,000 - - - 5,076,443
Due from banks  - 2,297,520 - - - 2,297,520
Loans and advances and Islamic financing - 25,856,963 1,381,120 456,720 725,687 28,420,490
Provisions (1,255,502) - - - - (1,255,502)
Investment securities  312,908 587,680 423,520 - 384,775 1,708,883
Property and equipment 616,475 - - - - 616,475
Other assets 1,646,939 - - - - 1,646,939
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total assets 3,397,263 31,742,163 1,804,640 456,720 1,110,462 38,511,248
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Liabilities and equity
Due to banks  - 309,273 - - - 309,273
Customers’ deposits and Islamic 
customers’ deposits  8,391,057 15,966,686 1,567,171 3,265,753 18,995 29,209,662
Medium term borrowing - 1,469,200 - - - 1,469,200
Other liabilities 1,644,172 - - - - 1,644,172
Equity 5,878,941 - - - - 5,878,941
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total liabilities and equity 15,914,170 17,745,159 1,567,171 3,265,753 18,995 38,511,248
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Interest rate sensitivity gap (12,516,907) 13,997,004 237,469 (2,809,033) 1,091,467 -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap (12,516,907) 1,480,097 1,717,566 (1,091,467) - 
===========================================================================================================
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e) Market risks (continued)

31 December 2009 Non   From 
 interest Less than From 3 to  6 months Over 1 
 bearing 3 months 6 months to 1 year years Total
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank  2,351,928 1,300,000 - - - 3,651,928
Due from banks  - 1,159,071 - - - 1,159,071
Loans and advances and Islamic financing - 24,209,935 2,175,113 653,765 2,075,520 29,114,333
Provisions (737,510) - - - - (737,510)
Investment securities  431,776 559,204 556,967 - 348,628 1,896,575
Property and equipment 576,883 - - - - 576,883
Other assets 1,121,772 - - - - 1,121,772
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total assets 3,744,849 27,228,210 2,732,080 653,765 2,424,148 36,783,052
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Liabilities and equity
Due to banks  - 619,568 - 147,000 - 766,568
Customers’ deposits and Islamic 
customers’ deposits  7,524,747 15,555,630 2,120,752 2,669,409 57,916 27,928,454
Medium term borrowing - 1,469,200 - - - 1,469,200
Other liabilities 1,268,870 - - - - 1,268,870
Equity 5,349,960 - - - - 5,349,960
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total liabilities and equity 14,143,577 17,644,398 2,120,752 2,816,409 57,916 36,783,052
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Interest rate sensitivity gap (10,398,728) 9,583,812 611,328 (2,162,644) 2,366,232 -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap (10,398,728) (814,916) (203,588) (2,366,232) - 
===========================================================================================================

 Overall interest rate risk positions are managed by the Treasury and ALM Department, which uses investment securities, advances 
to banks, deposits from banks and derivative instruments to manage the overall position arising from the Group’s activities. 
Interest rate risks are assumed by ALM from the businesses through fund transfer pricing (FTP process).
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f) Currency risk

 Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates and arises 
from financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency. The Board of Directors has set limits on positions by currency. 
Positions are closely monitored and hedging strategies are used to ensure positions are maintained within established limits. At 
31 December, the Group had the following significant net exposures denominated in foreign currencies:

  Net spot Forward                           Net exposure
  Position Position 2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

 Currency 
 US Dollar (1,055,491) 1,030,499 (24,992) (18,436)
 Great Britain Pound (5,936) 5,956 20 (382)
 Japanese Yen 7,486 (7,404) 82 22
 Euro (1,413) 2,093 680 1,006
 Others 932 3,854 4,786 8,821
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

 A summary of capital requirement for market risk under standardized approach of Basel II is set out below:

    2010 2009
    AED’000 AED’000
 
 Equity position risk   2,637 3,582
 Foreign currency risk   759 583
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
    3,396 4,165
===========================================================================================================
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g) Equity risk

 The Group has defined in its trading book policy the instruments which the Group is allowed to trade. A limited trading activity 
takes place in the equity market, monitored by Risk Management and in line with investment committee (IC) recommendations. 
Daily stop loss limits as well as portfolio notional limits are monitored daily and reported to senior management.

 Analysis of equity portfolio:
  2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000
 Publicly traded (quoted):
 Equity 224,266 309,173
 Privately held (unquoted):
 Funds of funds investments 88,642 122,603
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
 Total 312,908 431,776
===========================================================================================================

 Analysis of gains or (losses) on equity investments:
  2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000

 Realized gains / (losses) on sale 19,190 (21,905)
 Unrealized gains in P/L 15,432 9,776
 Impairment losses - (34,842)
 Unrealized (losses) / gains in OCI  (89,890) 51,090

 The revaluation reserve on equity portfolio as at 31 December 2010 amounting to AED 100.597 million (2009: AED 190.487 
million) was considered as Tier II capital.

 Analysis of capital requirement for the equity investments under standardized approach of Basel II:

                                                                            2010                                                                       2009
 Strategic  Held for  Strategic  Held for
 investment AFS trading Total investment AFS trading Total
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Equity - 25,714 2,396 28,110 - 32,423 3,172 35,595
Funds of Funds investment 3,900 6,616 241 10,757 3,174 10,107 410 13,691
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total 3,900 32,330 2,637 38,867 3,174 42,530  3,582  49,286
===========================================================================================================
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h) Operational risks

 Operational  risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the Group’s processes, 
personnel, technology, infrastructure and from external factors (other than credit, market and liquidity risks) such as those arising 
from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behavior. Potential loss may be in the form 
of financial loss or other damages, for example loss of reputation and public confidence that will impact the Group’s credibility 
and ability to do business.

 The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk, so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to the Group’s 
reputation, with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative, innovativeness and creativity.

 The primary responsibility for the overseeing the establishment of sound operational risk management framework and monitoring 
the operational risk profile of the Group vests with the Senior Management of the Group, and is further assigned to the Heads of 
individual units, departments or branches. This responsibility is supported by the development of overall Group standards for the 
management of operational risk in the following areas:

• Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorization of transactions to eliminate 
scenarios involving any conflict of interest;

• Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;
• Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;
• Documentation of controls and procedures pertaining to all activities of the bank;
• Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and procedures to address 

the risks identified;
• Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action to avoid its future recurrence;
• Development of contingency plans to ensure continuity of business under all circumstances;
• Training and professional development of employees at all levels so as to increase their awareness of the subject;
• Ethical and business standards (through the Group’s approved and functional Code of Ethics);
• Risk mitigation, including insurance wherever this is effective; and
• Whistle Blowing and Incident Reporting Policies are channels available to all staff for reporting of any loss events or other 

wrongdoings.

 The Group has established a framework of policies and procedures to identify, assess, control, manage and report risks and has set 
up an Operational Risk Management Unit for the purpose of identifying and managing risk. The initiative for automation of this 
process was launched during last quarter of current year and a full fledge system is expected to be in place by 1st quarter of 2011. 
As part of the Operational Risk Management Plan (ORM Plan), implemented Group-wide, the Operational Risk Management 
Unit (ORMU) prepares various reports on a quarterly basis including:

• Departmental and Group-wide Operational Risk (“Op Risk”) dashboards covering all key risks faced by the cluster;
• OpRisk Heat Maps covering the clusters;
• Operational Risk Register;
• Analysis of Operational Risk Loss data; and
• Analysis/update of Operational Risk Loss database. 

 Moreover, the ORMU conducts an assessment of the Group’s disaster recovery and business continuity position, as well as 
detailed system risk assessments of all new/upgraded IT systems and assessment of Operational Risk elements in any new 
products to be launched or procedures to be implemented.  Compliance with policies and procedures is supported by periodic 
reviews undertaken by Internal Audit. The results of these reviews are discussed with the business units to which they relate, with 
summaries submitted to the Board and Senior Management of the Group.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

i) Capital Management

 Regulatory capital
 The Group’s lead regulator, the Central Bank of the UAE, sets and monitors regulatory capital requirements.

 The Group’s objectives when managing capital are as follows:

• Safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and increase returns for shareholders; and
• Comply with regulatory capital requirements set by the Central Bank of the UAE.

 The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain 
future development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’ return is also recognized and the Group 
recognizes the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and the 
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.

 The Group also assesses its capital requirements internally taking into consideration growth requirements and business plans, 
and quantifies its Regulatory and Risk / Economic Capital requirements within its integrated ICAAP Framework. Risks such as 
Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book, Concentration Risk, Strategic Risk, Legal and Compliance Risk, Stress Risk, Insurance 
Risk and Reputational Risk are all part of the ICAAP.

 The Group also calculates the Risk Adjusted Return on Capital (RAROC) for credit applications that are priced on a risk-adjusted 
basis.  RAROC calculations are also built into the implemented Credit Appraisal System.

 The Group’s regulatory capital adequacy ratio is set by the Central Bank of UAE (‘the Central Bank’). The Group and its 
subsidiary have complied with all externally imposed capital requirements throughout the period. There have been no material 
changes in the Group’s management of capital during the year, except that during 2009, the Central Bank has advised that the 
capital adequacy ratio should not be less than 11% analysed into two Tiers, of which Tier 1 capital adequacy must not be less 
than 7% by 30 September 2009 and 12% analysed into two Tiers, of which Tier 1 capital adequacy must not be less than 8% by 
30 June 2010.

 The Group’s regulatory capital is analyzed into two tiers:

• Tier 1 capital, which includes ordinary share capital, translation reserve and retained earnings; and
• Tier 2 capital, which includes fair value reserves relating to unrealized gains / losses on investments classified as available-

for-sale and derivatives held as cash flow hedges, collective provision and subordinated term loans. The following limits have 
been applied for Tier 2 capital:

– Total tier 2 capital shall not exceed 67% of tier 1 capital;
– Subordinated liabilities shall not exceed 50% of total tier 1 capital; and
– Collective  provision shall not exceed 1.25% of total risk weighted assets. 
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

i) Capital Management (continued)

 Capital resources and adequacy

 The table below summarizes the composition of regulatory capital of the Group:

                                                                                                 Basel II                                              Basel I

 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
 2010 2009 2010 2009
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Core tier 1 capital
Share capital 1,941,287 1,941,287 1,941,287 1,941,287
Legal reserve 1,379,683 1,379,683 1,379,683 1,379,683
General reserve 1,100,000 1,100,000 1,100,000 1,100,000
Retained earnings 1,008,486 583,154 1,008,486 583,154
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Tier 1 Capital 5,429,456 5,004,124 5,429,456 5,004,124
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Upper tier 2 capital
Fair value reserve  7,015 16,415 7,015 16,415
Collective provisions 424,566 329,024 - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  431,581 345,439 7,015 16,415
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Lower tier 2 capital
Subordinated term loans 1,841,526 1,841,526 1,841,526 1,841,526
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Tier 2 capital 2,273,107 2,186,965 1,848,541 1,857,941

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Deductions from Tier 1 & Tier 2
Investments in un consolidated subsidiaries (10,000) (10,000) (10,000) (10,000)
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total capital base (a) 7,692,563 7,181,089 7,267,997 6,852,065
===========================================================================================================
Risk weighted assets (RWA) Pillar 1
On-balance sheet  - - 26,014,975 27,027,656
Off-balance sheet - - 5,365,122 5,796,691
Credit risk 31,477,290 32,461,191 - -
Market risk 28,305 39,848 - -
Operation risk 3,334,546 3,070,372 - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Risk weighted assets (b) 34,840,141 35,571,411 31,380,097 32,824,347
===========================================================================================================
Tier 1 ratio 15.58% 14.06% 17.30% 15.25%
Capital adequacy ratio (Pillar) 1 (c)  22.08% 20.19% 23.16% 20.87%
Pillar 2 capital charge (d) 1.80% 1.18% - -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Capital adequacy ratio  (c – d) 20.28% 19.01% 23.16% 20.87%
===========================================================================================================
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

i) Capital Management (continued)

 Capital resources and adequacy (continued) 

 Risk weighted capital requirement
 The Group has adopted the standardized approach for credit risk, market risk and operational risk for regulatory reporting 

purposes. The Group’s risk weighted capital requirement for credit, market and operation risk are given below:

 Risk weights for credit risk
 The Group has a diversified funded and unfunded credit portfolio. The exposures are classified as per the Standard Portfolio 

approach mentioned under the Central Bank of UAE Basel II Capital Adequacy Framework covering the standardized approach 
for credit risk. The descriptions of the counterparty classes along with the risk weights used to derive the risk weighted assets are 
as follows:

 Funded exposure
 Claims on sovereigns
 These pertain to exposures to governments and their central banks. Claims on central banks and sovereigns are risk weighted in 

accordance with their ratings from acceptable external credit assessment institutions (ECAIs), except that, for all GCC sovereigns 
a 0% weight has been applied.

 Claims on public sector entities (PSEs)
 Domestic currency claims on GCC non commercial PSE were treated as claims on GCC sovereign if their Central Bank or 

monetary authority treats them as such. Foreign currency claims on GCC PSE were treated one grade less favourable than its 
sovereign i.e. 20% risk weight were applied.  Claims on other foreign non commercial PSE were treated one grade less favorable 
than its sovereign. Claims on commercial PSE were treated as claims on corporate.

 Claims on multilateral development banks (MDBs) 
 All MDBs are risk weighted in accordance with the Banks credit rating except for those members listed in the World Bank Group 

which are risk weighted at 0%.

 Claims on banks
 Claims on banks are risk weighted based on the ratings assigned to them by external rating agencies, however, short term claims 

denominated in local currency were assigned more favorable risk weighting. 

 No claim on an unrated bank would receive a risk weight lower than that applied to claims on its sovereign of incorporation.

 Claims on corporate portfolio
 Claims on corporate are risk weighted in accordance with ratings from acceptable ECAIs. Risk weightings for unrated corporate 

claims are assigned at 100%.

 Claims on regulatory retail exposures
 Retail claims that are included in the regulatory retail portfolio are assigned risk weights of 75% (except for past due loans), if 

they meet the criteria mentioned in the Central Bank of UAE BASEL-II guidelines.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

i) Capital Management (continued)

 Capital resources and adequacy (continued) 

 Risk weights for credit risk (continued)

 Claims secured by residential property
 A preferential risk weight of 35% was applied on claims that did not exceed AED 10 million to a single borrower and the claim 

was secured by residential property with LTV of up to 85%. Other claims secured on residential property were risk weighted 
100%.

 Claims secured by commercial property
 100% risk weight was applied on claims secured by commercial property.

 Past due exposures
 The unsecured portion of any loan (other than a qualifying residential mortgage loan) that is past due for more than 90 days, net 

of specific provisions (including partial write-offs), is risk weighted as follows:

– 150% risk weight when specific provisions are less than 20% of the outstanding amount of the loan; and
– 100% risk weight when specific provisions are greater than 20% of the outstanding amount of the loan.

 Equity portfolios
 0% risk weight was applied on equity in trading book. Equity in banking book was risk weighted at 100%. The aggregate 

investments in insurance companies amounting to AED 172,268 thousand (2009: AED 236,796 thousand) have been risk 
weighted in accordance with Basel  II.

 Other exposures
 These are risk weighted at 100%.

 Unfunded exposure
 For credit-related contingent items, the nominal value is converted to an exposure through the application of  Credit Conversions 

Factors (CCF). The CCF is at 20%, 50% or 100% depending on the type of contingent item, and is used to convert off balance 
sheet notional amounts into an equivalent on balance sheet exposure. 

 Undrawn commitments to extend credit represent commitments that have not been drawn down or utilized at the reporting date. 
The nominal amount provides the calculation base to which the CCF is applied for calculating the exposure. CCF range between 
20% and 50% for commitment with original maturity of up to one year and over one year respectively and 0% CCF is applicable 
for commitments which can be unconditionally cancelled at any time.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

i) Capital Management (continued)

 Capital resources and adequacy (continued) 

 Risk weights for credit risk (continued)

Asset Classes  Off  balance     Risk 
  sheet              Credit  risk mitigation (CRM)  weighted 
 On balance Net Exposure    assets
 Sheet After Credit Exposure   
 Gross  Conversion Before  After 
  Outstanding Factors (CCF) CRM CRM CRM 
31 December 2010 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Claims on Sovereigns 6,794,681 - 6,794,681 - 6,794,681 40,495
Claims on Non-Central Government 
   Public Sector Entities (PSES)  1,212,300 840 1,213,140 - 1,213,140 730,439
Claims on banks 999,156 354,350 1,353,506 - 1,353,506 432,136
Claims on corporate 14,962,708 5,181,208 20,104,916 3,375,068 16,729,848 16,729,848
Claims included in the regulatory 
   retail portfolio 703,770 93,023 796,793 36,936 759,857 613,352
Claims secured by residential property 1,447,051 - 1,447,051 - 1,447,051 997,418
Claims secured by commercial property 8,273,425 - 8,273,425 - 8,273,425 8,273,425
Past due loans 2,444,352 - 1,652,416 - 1,652,416 2,195,799
Other assets 1,828,351 - 1,828,351 - 1,828,351 1,464,378
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total claims 38,665,794 5,629,421 43,464,279 3,412,004 40,052,275 31,477,290
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Settlement risk - from SR 1      -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total credit risk      31,477,290
===========================================================================================================
31 December 2009
Claims on Sovereigns 5,719,163 352,610 6,071,773 - 6,071,773 43,250
Claims on Non-Central Government 
   Public Sector Entities (PSES)  1,383,137 560,653 1,943,790 - 1,943,790 1,059,523
Claims on banks 349,239 413,416 762,655 - 762,655 376,380
Claims on corporate 14,862,236 5,036,494 19,898,730 1,930,356 17,968,374 17,987,586
Claims included in the regulatory 
   retail portfolio 956,554 83,605 1,040,159 32,076 1,008,083 799,930
Claims secured by residential property 1,598,580 - 1,598,580 - 1,598,580 996,726
Claims secured by commercial property 8,928,537 - 8,928,537 - 8,928,537 8,928,537
Past due loans 1,105,948 - 696,357 4,768 691,589 935,829
Other assets 1,836,449 - 1,836,449 - 1,836,449 1,333,430
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total claims 36,739,843 6,446,778 42,777,030 1,967,200 40,809,830 32,461,191
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Settlement risk - from SR 1      -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total credit risk      32,461,191
===========================================================================================================
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

i) Capital Management (continued)

 Capital resources and adequacy (continued) 

 Risk weights for credit risk (continued)

 The Group uses the following external credit assessment institutions (ECAIs):  Standard & Poors’, Moody’s, Fitch and Capital 
Intelligence. The external rating of ECAI is mapped to the prescribed credit quality assessment scale that in turn produces standard 
risk weightings. The Group also uses various Credit Risk Mitigation techniques (CRM). However, only cash and bank guarantees 
are used in calculation of Pillar I Capital requirements. The total exposure to Banks before CRM includes AED 1,259,435 
thousand (2009: AED 836,391 thousand) rated exposure.

 Risk weighted assets as per standardized approach is set out below: 

                                                                                                     2010                                                    2009
   Risk weighted  Risk weighted
  Exposure assets Exposure assets
  AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Gross exposure prior to CRM 43,464,279 34,889,294 42,777,030   34,428,391
Less: Eligible financial collateral 3,412,004 3,412,004 1,967,200 1,967,200
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Net exposure after CRM 40,052,275 31,477,290 40,809,830   32,461,191
===========================================================================================================

 Risk weights for market risk
 Capital requirement for market risk is calculated using standardized approach. The capital requirement for market risk is analysed 

into capital requirement for interest rate risk, equity risk, foreign exchange risk and option risk.

 Risk weight for operation risk 
 Capital requirement for operation risk is calculated using basic indicator approach. The total capital requirement is calculated as 

15% of last three years average income.
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7. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  

7.1 Financial assets and liabilities classification

 The table below sets out the Group’s classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities:  

              Amortized Cost  Available- Other Total
 Fair value Held-to- Loans and For-sale at amortized carrying
 through P/L maturity Advances fair value cost amount
31 December 2010 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Cash and balances with central bank - - - - 5,076,443 5,076,443
Due from banks - - - - 2,297,520 2,297,520
Loans and advances 
   and Islamic financing - - 27,164,988 - - 27,164,988
Investment securities 10,989 934,908 - 762,986 - 1,708,883
Other assets 3,771 - - - 1,643,168 1,646,939
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
 14,760 934,908 27,164,988 762,986 9,017,131 37,894,773
===========================================================================================================

Due to banks - - - - 309,273 309,273
Customers’ deposits 
   and Islamic customers’ deposits - - - - 29,209,662 29,209,662
Medium term borrowing - - - - 1,469,200 1,469,200
Other liabilities 24,848 - - - 1,565,333 1,590,181
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
 24,848 - - - 32,553,468 32,578,316
===========================================================================================================

31 December 2009

Cash and balances with central bank - - - - 3,651,928 3,651,928
Due from banks - - - - 1,159,071 1,159,071
Loans and advances 
   and Islamic financing - - 28,376,823 - - 28,376,823
Investment securities 16,282 1,066,143 - 814,150 - 1,896,575
Other assets 18,299 - - - 1,103,473 1,121,772
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
 34,581 1,066,143 28,376,823 814,150 5,914,472 36,206,169
===========================================================================================================

Due to banks - - - - 766,568 766,568
Customers’ deposits 
   and Islamic customers’ deposits - - - - 27,928,454 27,928,454
Medium term borrowing - - - - 1,469,200 1,469,200
Other liabilities 31,827 - - - 1,181,250 1,213,077
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
 31,827 - - - 31,345,472 31,377,299
===========================================================================================================
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7. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)  

7.2 Fair value measurement – Fair value hierarchy:

31 December 2010 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Investments
    Equity 224,266 - -
    Fund of funds 88,642 - -
    Fixed and floating rate securities 461,067 - -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 
and other derivatives - 375 -
Interest rate swaps - (20,702) -

===========================================================================================================

31 December 2009

Investments
    Equity 309,173 - -
    Fund of funds 122,603 - -
    Fixed and floating rate securities 398,656 - -
Forward foreign exchange contracts
and other derivatives - 14,010 -
Interest rate swaps - (27,538) -

===========================================================================================================

 During the year there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy above. Further, there has been no 
change in the valuation techniques in relation to valuation of financial instruments during the year.

8. CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK

  2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000

Cash on hand  352,984 486,738
Balances with Central Bank
   Deposits and other balances  217,884 421,004
   Statutory reserves  1,505,575 1,444,186
   Negotiable certificates of deposit   3,000,000 1,300,000

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  5,076,443 3,651,928

===========================================================================================================
Within UAE  5,076,443 3,651,928

===========================================================================================================
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9. DUE FROM BANKS
  2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000

Current and demand deposits  133,742 98,006
Placements   2,163,778 1,061,065

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  2,297,520 1,159,071

===========================================================================================================
Due from banks include current and demand deposits of AED 133.7 million (2009: AED 96.7 million) and   534 million  
placements (2009: nil) with banks outside UAE.

10.  LOANS AND ADVANCES AND ISLAMIC FINANCING
 
 The composition of the loans and advances and Islamic financing portfolio is as follows:
  2010 2009
Loans and advances  AED’000 AED’000
Overdrafts  7,399,961 7,521,229
Loans  19,043,020 19,739,688
Advances against letters of credit and trust receipts  836,790 790,511
Bills discounted  773,643 1,021,214

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Gross loans and advances  28,053,414 29,072,642

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Islamic financing   
Murabaha  213,563 41,195
Ijara  142,825 496
Others  10,688 -

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Gross Islamic financing  367,076 41,691

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Gross loans and advances and Islamic financing  28,420,490 29,114,333

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Less: provisions for impairment losses on loans and advances  (1,255,281) (737,301)
Less: provisions for impairment losses on Islamic financing  (221) (209)

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Net loans and advances and Islamic financing  27,164,988 28,376,823

===========================================================================================================
The movements in provisions for impairment losses are as follows:
  2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000
Balance at 1 January  737,510 326,916
Amounts written off during the year  (99,274) (17,817)
Charge for the year as specific   458,911 178,973
Charge for the year as collective  95,542 232,135
Interest not recognized  90,815 43,154
Recoveries  (28,002) (25,851)

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  1,255,502 737,510

===========================================================================================================
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11. INVESTMENT SECURITIES

 Domestic Regional International Total
31 December 2010 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Held for trading
    Equities 8,776 - 1,208 9,984
    Fund of funds - 1,005 - 1,005

Available-for-sale    
    Equities 214,282 - - 214,282
    Fund of funds 20,960 66,677 - 87,637
    Fixed rate securities
         - Government 69,420 - 40,495 109,915
         - Others 103,313 - 824 104,137
    Floating rate non government securities 182,370 64,645 - 247,015
    
Held-to-maturity    
    Fixed rate government securities  170,723 - - 170,723
    Floating rate securities 
        - Government  704,682 - - 704,682
        -  others 59,503 - - 59,503

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total  investment securities  1,534,029 132,327 42,527 1,708,883

===========================================================================================================

 Domestic Regional International Total
31 December 2009 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Held for trading    
    Equities 14,420 - - 14,420
    Fund of funds - 1,862 - 1,862

Available-for-sale    
    Equities 294,753 - - 294,753
    Fund of funds 34,967 85,774 - 120,741
    Fixed rate securities     
         - Government 47,014 - 43,250 90,264
         - Others 71,265 - 19,931 91,196
    Floating rate non government securities 159,896 57,300 - 217,196
    
Held-to-maturity    
    Fixed rate government securities  167,166 - - 167,166
    Floating rate securities 
        - Government 835,801 - - 835,801
        - Others 63,176 - - 63,176

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total  investment securities  1,688,458 144,936 63,181 1,896,575

===========================================================================================================
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11. INVESTMENT SECURITIES (CONTINUED)  

11.1 Fund of funds investments

 This represents investments in global and regional asset management funds as a part of the Group’s strategy of diversifying its 
holdings.

11.2 Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments

 In 2009, the Group had booked an impairment loss that aggregates to AED 44 million on available for sale investments, due to 
the decline in the market values. However in 2010 Nil impairment loss has been booked.

11.3  Reclassification of investment securities

 The Group, as a result of the adoption of amendments of IAS-39 financial instruments; recognition and measurement and IFRS 
-7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, introduced in October 2008, had reclassified investments amounting to AED 84 million, 
being the fair value as at 1 July 2008, from the fair value through profit or loss classification to the available-for-sale investments 
category.  As there was no trading in the reclassified investments during the last years, the management considers that the 
reclassification provides a more appropriate presentation of the investments in accordance with the Group’s long-term investment 
strategy. As required by the amendments, the effects of such a reclassification are set out below:

  2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000
After reclassification 
Unrealised fair value loss recognized in statement of other comprehensive income  (1,800) (600)
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12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

 Freehold Leasehold Furniture, Capital 
 land and improvements equipment work in 
 buildings  & vehicles progress Total
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Cost
At 1 January 2010 449,427 24,904 212,916 172,554 859,801
Additions during the year 1,105 6,178 17,787 70,454 95,524
Transfer from capital work in progress 122,823 - 13,093 (135,916) -
Disposals (201) (141) (9,221) - (9,563)
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
At 31 December 2010 573,154 30,941 234,575 107,092 945,762
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Depreciation
At 1 January 2010 129,668 11,927 141,323 - 282,918
Charge for the year 18,906 4,673 31,722 - 55,301
On disposals - - (8,932) - (8,932)
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
At 31 December 2010 148,574 16,600 164,113 - 329,287
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Net book values
At 31 December 2010 424,580 14,341 70,462 107,092 616,475
===========================================================================================================

 Freehold Leasehold Furniture, Capital 
 land and improvements equipment work in 
 buildings  & vehicles progress Total
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Cost
At 1 January 2009 439,574 31,744 182,809 70,902 725,029
Additions during the year 9,853 4,874 34,443 104,744 153,914
Transfer from capital work in progress - - 1,424 (1,424) -
Disposals - (11,714) (5,760) - (17,474)
Written off - - - (1,668) (1,668)
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
At 31 December 2009 449,427 24,904 212,916 172,554 859,801
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Depreciation
At 1 January 2009 113,262 19,334 116,634 - 249,230
Charge for the year 16,406 4,307 30,414 - 51,127
On disposals -  (11,714) (5,725) - (17,439)
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
At 31 December 2009 129,668 11,927 141,323 - 282,918
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Net book values
At 31 December 2009 319,759 12,977 71,593 172,554 576,883
===========================================================================================================

 Freehold land and buildings includes the market value of a plot of land granted to the Group by the Government of Dubai in 
1998. The market value of AED 38,638,000 was determined by independent appraisers at that time and was credited to a capital 
reserve.
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13. OTHER ASSETS
  2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000

Interest receivable 482,657 269,838
Accounts receivable and prepayments 59,555 52,462
Customer’s indebtedness for acceptances  1,100,956 780,719
Positive fair value of derivatives (note 28) 3,771 18,299
Accounts receivable from brokerage customers - 454
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  1,646,939 1,121,772
===========================================================================================================

14. DUE TO BANKS
  2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000

Current and demand deposits 211,627 198,920
Term loans and deposits 97,646 567,648
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  309,273 766,568
===========================================================================================================

15. CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS AND ISLAMIC CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS

Customers’ deposits 2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000

Current and demand accounts 8,695,147 8,237,860
Savings accounts 1,078,228 1,153,938
Time deposits  16,293,353 17,520,295
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  26,066,728 26,912,093
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Islamic customers’ deposits 2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000

Current and demand accounts 283,083 53,229
Mudaraba saving 66,867 25,060
Investment deposits and Wakala  2,792,984 938,072
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  3,142,934 1,016,361
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total customers’ deposits and Islamic customers’ deposits  29,209,662 27,928,454
===========================================================================================================
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15. CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS AND ISLAMIC CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

  2010 2009
By sector: AED’000 AED’000

Government 2,789,683 3,122,997
Corporate 20,122,272 18,770,450
Consumer 6,297,707 6,035,007
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  29,209,662 27,928,454
===========================================================================================================

 Subordinated term loans
 Customers’ deposits include deposits received by the group in 2008, aggregating to AED 1,841.526 million from UAE Ministry 

of Finance. On 9 December 2009 (the re-categorization date), the Group entered into an agreement with UAE Ministry of 
Finance, through which these deposits are now subordinate to other claims and allowed by Central Bank to be treated as  lower 
Tier 2 capital. The subordinate term loan carries interest which ranges from 4% per annum to 6.5% per annum payable quarterly 
from the date of re-categorization until 7 years.

16. MEDIUM TERM BORROWING

 In 2008, the Group entered into a 3 year USD 400 million syndicated loan arrangement with an option to roll over on a quarterly 
or semi-annual basis. The arrangement carries interest at the rate of 3 month LIBOR plus 75 basis points payable on a quarterly 
basis. 

17. OTHER LIABILITIES

  2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000

Interest payable 172,162 151,705
Employees’ terminal benefits 53,991 55,793
Accounts payable and unearned fee income 270,213 216,171
Negative fair value of derivatives (note 28) 24,848 31,827
Liabilities under acceptances 1,100,956 780,719
Accounts payable to brokerage customers 22,002 32,655
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  1,644,172 1,268,870
===========================================================================================================
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18. EQUITY

 Share capital
 The issued and fully paid up ordinary share capital as at 31 December 2010 comprised 1,941,287,596 ordinary shares of AED 1 

each (2009: 1,764,806,906 shares of AED 1 each).

 Legal reserve
 Federal Law No. 8 of 1984 (as amended), Union Law No. 10 of 1980 and the Bank’s Articles of Association require that a 

minimum of 10% of the annual net profit be transferred to a legal reserve, until such time as this reserve equals 50% of share 
capital. The legal reserve is not available for distribution except under the circumstances stipulated by the relevant law.

 Capital reserve
  This reserve represents the market value of the granted land at the date of grant as explained in note 12, and is not available for 

distribution to the shareholders.

 General reserve
 In accordance with article 87 of the Bank’s Articles of Association, a minimum of 10% of the annual net profit to be transferred 

to general reserve until such time as this reserve equals 50% of share capital. This reserve may only be used for the purposes 
recommended by the Board of Directors and approved by the Shareholders. 

 Cumulative changes in fair values of AFS investments and cash flow hedge instruments
 This represents the net change in the fair values of available-for-sale investments and derivatives held as cash flow hedge 

instruments by the Group and are not available for distribution to the shareholders.

 Proposed distributions
  The Board of Directors has proposed the following distributions for approval by the Annual General Meeting of the shareholders 

to be held on 16th March 2011.

i) Proposed bonus issue
 No bonus issue for 2010 (2009:10 per cent in the ratio of 1 shares for every 10 shares held) is proposed. 

ii) Proposed cash dividend
 A cash dividend of 20 per cent (2009: 15%) of the share capital amounting to AED 388,257,000 (2009: AED 264,721,000) is 

proposed representing a dividend of AED 0.20 per share (2009: AED 0.15 per share).

iii) Proposed directors’ remuneration
 In accordance with Article 118 of Federal Law No.8 of 1984, directors’ remuneration amounting to AED 7,000,000 (2009: AED 

6,000,000) has been treated as an appropriation from equity.
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19. INTEREST INCOME AND INCOME FROM ISLAMIC FINANCING

  2010 2009
Interest income AED’000 AED’000

Loans and advances 1,893,079 1,957,579
Negotiable certificates of deposit with the Central Bank 133 1,394
Due from banks 4,299 2,789
Held-to-maturity investments 19,148 38,343
Available-for-sale investments 21,597 19,807
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  1,938,256 2,019,912
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

  2010 2009
Income from Islamic financing AED’000 AED’000

Murabaha 7,102 2,502
Ijara  3,300 41
Sukuk held-to-maturity 19,567 15,911
Sukuk available –for-sale 239 -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  30,208 18,454
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total interest income and income from Islamic Financing 1,968,464 2,038,366
===========================================================================================================

20. INTEREST EXPENSE AND DISTRIBUTION TO ISLAMIC DEPOSITORS 

  2010 2009
Interest expense AED’000 AED’000

Due to banks 3,118 18,186
Customers’ deposits 487,483 643,188
Medium term borrowing 16,259 24,380
Derivative financial instruments 20,466 15,236
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  527,326 700,990
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

  2010 2009
Distribution to Islamic depositors  AED’000 AED’000

Islamic customers’ deposits 55,660 19,841
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  55,660 19,841
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total interest expense and distribution to Islamic depositors 582,986 720,831
===========================================================================================================

 Distribution to Islamic depositors represents the share of income allocated to Islamic depositors of the Group. The allocation 
and distribution is  approved by the Group’s Sharia’a  Supervisory Board.
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21. NET FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME

  2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000

Lending activities 67,634 77,966
Trade finance activities 136,727 140,570
Operating activities 121,755 102,784
Net cards income and brokerage fees 18,460 26,993
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  344,576 348,313
===========================================================================================================

22. NET GAINS FROM INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS - HELD FOR 
TRADING 

  2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000

Net realized (losses) / gains on sale of investments at fair value through profit or loss (973) 449
Net unrealized gains on investments at fair value  through profit or loss 15,432 9,776
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  14,459 10,225
===========================================================================================================

23. DIVIDEND INCOME 

  2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000

Investments at fair value through profit or loss – held for trading 374 1,338
Available-for-sale investments 7,523 9,283
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  7,897 10,621
===========================================================================================================

24. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

 General and administrative expenses include staff related expenses of AED 370.4 million (2009: AED 377.9 million). 

25. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

 The earnings per share is based on the Group’s profit attributable to shareholders for the year amounting to AED 820.589 
million (2009: AED 803.345 million), and on the weighted average number of shares in issue totaling 1,941,287,596 
(2009: 1,941,287,596).  

 There was no dilutive effect on earnings per share. 
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

  2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000

Cash on hand 352,984 486,738
Balances with the Central Bank 217,884 421,004
Negotiable certificates of deposit with the Central Bank 3,000,000 1,300,000
Due from banks with original maturity less than three months 2,297,520 1,159,071
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  5,868,388 3,366,813

Due to banks with original maturity less than three months (309,273) (619,568)
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  5,559,115 2,747,245
===========================================================================================================

27. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

 Contingent liabilities represent credit-related commitments to extend letters of credit, guarantees and forward foreign 
exchange contracts which are designed to meet the requirements of the Group’s customers toward third parties.  Commitments 
represent the Group’s commitments towards approved un-drawn credit facilities.  The amounts reflected below represent the 
maximum accounting loss that would be recognized at the balance sheet date if counterparties failed completely to perform as 
contracted.

  2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000

Contingent liabilities: 
Letters of credit 1,243,029 1,572,648
Guarantees 7,146,988 8,409,545
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
  8,390,017 9,982,193

Credit commitments:
Undrawn commitments to extend credit 7,162,746 8,973,693
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total contingent liabilities and commitments 15,552,763 18,955,886
===========================================================================================================
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28. DERIVATIVES

 The following table shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments at the balance sheet date, together with the 
notional amounts, analyzed by terms to maturity. The notional amount is the value of the derivative’s underlying asset and 
is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of 
transactions outstanding at the year end and therefore, are neither indicative of the Group’s exposure to credit risk, which is 
generally limited to the positive fair value of the derivatives, nor market risk. 

 Positive Negative  Less than From three From Over
 market market Notional three months to one year to five
 value value amount months one year five years years
31 December 2010 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Held for trading: 
Forward foreign exchange 
   contracts and other derivatives 3,771 4,146 1,381,857 1,165,127 - 36,730 180,000
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
 3,771 4,146 1,381,857 1,165,127 - 36,730 180,000
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Held as cash flow hedges:       
Interest rate swaps - 20,702 954,980 - 918,250 36,730 -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
 - 20,702 954,980 - 918,250 36,730 -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total 3,771 24,848 2,336,837 1,165,127 918,250 73,460 180,000
===========================================================================================================

 Positive Negative  Less than From three From Over
 market market Notional three months to one year to five
 value value amount months one year five years years
31 December 2009 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Held for trading: 
Forward foreign exchange 
   contracts and other derivatives 18,299 2,793 2,047,553 228,089 1,639,464 - 180,000
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
 18,299 2,793 2,047,553 228,089 1,639,464 - 180,000
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Held as cash flow hedges: 
Interest rate swaps - 29,034 954,980 - - 954,980 -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
 - 29,034 954,980 - - 954,980 -
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total 18,299 31,827   3,002,533 228,089 1,639,464 954,980 180,000
===========================================================================================================
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29. SEGMENTAL REPORTING

 The primary format, business segments, is based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure that are regularly 
reviewed by the Management Committee in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance.

 Business segments pay to and receive interest from the Central Treasury on an arm’s length basis to reflect the allocation of 
capital and funding costs.

 Business segments

Corporate banking Includes loan and other credit facilities, current accounts and deposits and trade finance 
products to large corporate, commercial (mid-sized) clients and small commercial clients 
(business).

Consumer banking Includes current accounts, easy access saving accounts, fixed rate deposit accounts, personal 
loans, overdraft facilities, vehicle finance, mortgage products, loans and other credit facilities 
to high net-worth (al dana), mid-tier clients (personal) and modest income group (direct).

Treasury and investments Undertakes balance sheet management deals in derivatives for trading and for risk management 
purposes and manages the Group’s proprietary investment portfolio.

Islamic Banking Includes Sharia compliant financing, deposits and trade finance products to all sub segments 
of clients defined under corporate and consumer banking.

 The Group also has a Central Shared Services operation that manages the Group’s premises and certain corporate costs. Interest 
is charged or credited to business segments at pool fund transfer pricing rates which approximate the replacement cost of funds. 
Other central costs are allocated to business segments on a reasonable basis whereas certain costs remain unallocated.

 Geographical 

 The Group operates in one geographic area, the United Arab Emirates. 
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29. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (CONTINUED)

 Segmental analysis for the year ended 31 December 2010 was as follows: 

   Treasury   
 Corporate Consumer and Islamic Other 
 banking banking investments banking operations Total
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Assets 24,617,254 2,180,658 6,825,430 2,624,492 2,263,414 38,511,248
===========================================================================================================
Liabilities 20,567,768 5,498,960 1,778,473 3,142,934 1,644,172 32,632,307
===========================================================================================================
Net interest income and net income from 
   Islamic financing 1,139,339 183,671 55,524 6,944 - 1,385,478
Other income 222,871 49,548 133,984 46,585 51,577 504,565
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total operating income 1,362,210 233,219 189,508 53,529 51,577 1,890,043
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Allocated cost 276,733 82,773 11,232 26,183 - 396,921
Unallocated cost - - - - 90,781 90,781
Provisions for impairment losses net of recoveries 430,873 95,578 - - - 526,451
Depreciation  7,158 9,687 1,791 901 35,764 55,301
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total expenses 714,764 188,038 13,023 27,084 126,545 1,069,454
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Net profit for the year 647,446 45,181 176,485 26,445 (74,968) 820,589
===========================================================================================================

 Segmental analysis for the year ended 31 December 2009 was as follows: 

   Treasury   
 Corporate Consumer and Islamic Other 
 banking banking investments banking operations Total
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Assets 25,680,597 2,654,535 6,231,033 518,232 1,698,655 36,783,052
===========================================================================================================
Liabilities 21,297,457 5,614,636 2,235,768 1,016,361 1,268,870 31,433,092
===========================================================================================================
Net interest income and net income from 
   Islamic financing 1,070,922 199,926 37,826 8,861 - 1,317,535
Other income 259,329 51,229 82,652 860 56,317 450,387
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total operating income 1,330,251 251,155 120,478 9,721 56,317 1,767,922
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Allocated cost 250,015 120,453 13,345 12,727 - 396,540
Unallocated cost - - - - 87,630 87,630
Provisions for impairment losses net of recoveries 298,758 86,499 44,023 - - 429,280
Depreciation  6,618 8,956 1,656 833 33,064 51,127
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Total expenses 555,391 215,908 59,024 13,560 120,694 964,577
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Net profit for the year 774,860 35,247 61,454 (3,839) (64,377) 803,345
===========================================================================================================
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the 
other party in making financial or operational decisions.  In the case of the Group, related parties, as defined in the International 
Accounting Standard No. 24, include major non-Government shareholders of the Group, directors and key management 
personnel and companies of which they are principal owners who were customers of the Group during the year.  The terms of 
these transactions are approved by the Group’s Board: 

                                                                                                    Directors and                                              Other related
                                                                                         key management personnel                                       parties 
 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
 2010 2009 2010 2009
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Loans and advances    
At 1 January 182,511 160,412 668,690 666,486
Loans issued 11,252 28,448 129,225 223,240
Repayments (11,183) (6,349) (235,470) (221,036)
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Closing balance  182,580 182,511 562,445 668,690
===========================================================================================================

Deposits    
At 1 January 29,640 35,042 159,515 69,504
Received 11,592 492 49,928 97,006
Repaid (29,116) (5,894) (124,333) (6,995)
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Closing balance 12,116 29,640 85,110 159,515
===========================================================================================================
    
Interest income 9,082 9,327 13,121 37,194
Interest expense 728 1,085 446 1,824
===========================================================================================================

 Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Group.   

 No provisions for impairment have been recognized in respect of loans given to related parties (2009: AED NIL) 

 The loans issued to directors are repayable monthly over a maximum period of 5 years (2009: 5 years) and carry interest at 
rates comparable to third party loans. These loans are unsecured (2009: unsecured). 

 Key management compensation
  2010 2009
  AED’000 AED’000

 Salaries and other short-term benefits 13,657 14,093
 Post retirement benefits 473 587
===========================================================================================================

31. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

 Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in these consolidated financial 
statements, the effect of which are considered immaterial.  
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Dubai Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 352 3355
Fax: +9714 352 7655
Branch Manager: Mohammed Ali

Jumeirah Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 344 1438
Fax: +9714 344 7346
Branch Manager: Arefa Al Hashemi

Umm Suqeim Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 373 0700
Fax: +9714 373 0703
Branch Manager: Farah Alulama

Sheikh Zayed Road Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 343 4777
Fax: +9714 343 6088
Branch Manager: Maher Mohd. Al Marzouqi

Al Garhoud Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 282 6444
Fax: +9714 282 6620
Branch Manager: Abdul Wahab Galadari

Al Qusais Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 261 5000
Fax: +9714 261 2520
Branch Manager: Ibrahim Al Ramsi 

Al Aweer Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 320 1222
Fax: +9714 320 1201
Branch Manager: Hussain Al Marzooqi

Naturalization and Residence 
Administration Branch
P.O. Box : 2668, Dubai, UAE
Tel: +9714 398 5000
Fax: +9714 398 2259
Branch Manager: Adel Al Khooly

Al Maktoum Branch
P.O. Box 3393, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 268 3555
Fax: +9714 268 3477 
Assistant General Manager: Amer Al Shamali

Deira Branch
P.O. Box 1709, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 225 3222
Fax: +9714 225 4565
Branch Manager: Mohammad Sharif 

Baniyas Square Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 228 9000
Fax: +9714 221 8262
Branch Manager: Majid Mohd. Al Marzouqi

Old Town Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 420 0292
Fax: +9714 420 0299
Branch Manager: Rana Al Marzooqi

Main Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 212 1000  
Fax: +9714 212 1012
Branch Manager: Hassan Al Rais

Al Quoz Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, UAE
Tel: +9714 330 7000
Fax: +9714 330 7701
Regional Manager: Ahmed Al Aboodi

Branches & Managers

Head Office
P.O. Box 2668, Ittihad Rd., 
Dubai, U.A.E.
Toll-free: 800 CBD (223)
Tel: +9714 212 1000
Fax: +9714 212 1911
Swift: CBDUAEAD XXX
E-Mail: cbd-ho@cbd.ae

www.cbd.ae
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Marina Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 423 4888
Fax: +9714 423 4851
Branch Manager: Mohammad Al Lawati

Jebel Ali Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 881 8882
Fax: +9714 881 2252
Branch Manager: Adeeb Al Jundi

Abu Dhabi Branch
P.O. Box 2466, Abu Dhabi, U.A.E.
Tel: +9712 626 8400
Fax: +9712 627 4120
Branch Manager: Tariq Khaleel Badran

Musaffah Branch
P.O. Box 2466, Abu Dhabi, U.A.E.
Tel: +9712 555 5510
Fax: +9712 554 0330
Branch Manager: Ramzi Ishaq Sulaiman

Khalidiya Branch
P.O. Box 2466, Abu Dhabi, UAE
Tel: +9712 667 9929
Fax: +9712 667 1486
Branch Manager: Moustafa Mahfouz Khalaf

Al Ain Branch
P.O. Box 1497, Al Ain, U.A.E.
Tel: +9713 766 7800
Fax: +9713 766 6590
Branch Manager: Khalid Abdel Hadi

Sharjah Branch
P.O. Box 677, Sharjah, U.A.E.
Tel: +9716 574 0666
Fax: +9716 574 0044
Branch Manager: Mohamed Ahmed Bani Hammad

Ras Al Khaimah Branch
P.O. Box 5849, R.A.K., U.A.E.
Tel: +9717 228 6266
Fax: +9717 228 5545
Branch Manager: Ebrahim Ahmed Al Zaabi

Fujairah Branch
P.O. Box 4554, Fujairah, UAE
Tel: +9719 222 5111
Fax: +9719 201 8111
Branch Manager: Abdullah Al Suwaidi

Sharjah Industrial Branch
P.O. Box 677, Sharjah, U.A.E.
Tel: +9716 535 3500
Fax: +9716 535 3117
Branch Manager: Hussain Abdulmalik Hussain

Ajman Branch
P.O. Box 4199, Ajman, U.A.E.
Tel: +9716 745 6668
Fax: +9716 744 9987
Branch Manager: Khalid Ahmed Al Housani

Burj Al Arab, Dubai
Tel: +9714 348 4414
Oasis Village, Dubai
Tel: +9714 338 7830
American University in Dubai
Tel: +9714 399 1316

Cash Offices :
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